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DANA GAS PJSC
Report of the Directors

The Board of Directors of Dana Gas (“Dana Gas” or the “Company™) are pleased to announce the
consolidated financial results of the Company, its subsidiaries and joint arrangements (together referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016,

Principal Activities

Dana Gas was incorporated in the Emirate of Sharjah (“Sharjah™), United Arab Emirates, as a public joint
stock company on 20 November 2005 pursuant to incorporation decree number 429/2005 issued by the
Ministry of Economy.

Dana Gas is the Middle East’s first and largest private sector natural gas company. The Group currently
operates in the MENASA (Middle East, North Africa & South Asia) Region across the natural gas value
chain; from exploration and production, through gas processing and transportation, to the distribution,
marketing and utilisation of gas as feedstock and fuel to the petrochemical, industrial and the power sectors.
Since its establishment, the Company has grown to a regional natural gas Company with presence in the
United Arab Emirates, Egypt, Bahrain, and the Kurdistan Region of Iraq (KRI) and headquartered in
Sharjah, United Arab Emirates. .

Results for the year ended 31 December 2016 ,

During the year, the Company earned gross revenues of USD 392 million (AED 1.4 billion) as compared
to USD 417 million (AED 1.5 billion) in 2013, a decrease of 6% reflecting decline in realised hydrocarbon
prices in 2016 as compared to 2015. Realised prices were down by 26% in 2016 and impacted the topline
by USD 72 million (AED 264 million). The decline was partly offset by increase in production from Egypt
and new production from Zora field which added USD 47 million (AED 172 million). Realised price
averaged USD 36/bbl for condensate and USD 28/boe for LPG compared to USD 50/bbl and USD 37/boe
respectively in 2015.

The Group reported a net loss of USD 88 million (AED 323 million) as compared to a net profit of
USD 144 million (AED 528 million) in 2015, Whilst optimisation of operating cost & G&A together with
increase in entitlements in KRI has contributed positively towards operating profit, the following one off
items explain the significant variance in net profitability;

i. a one off income recognised in 2015 of USD 208 million {AED 762 million) on settlement of RWE
Supply & Trading GmbH (RWEST) arbitration including the sale of a 5% interest in Pear] Petroleum
Company Limited (PPCL) to RWEST Middle East Holding BV and

ii. aone-time imerest reversal of USD 121 million (AED 443 million) (USD 86 million booked in 2015
and USD 35 million recorded during the year) on overdue receivables due from KRG following the
Third Partial Final Award in which the Tribunal determined that the Claimants are entitled to interest
on all overdue liquids receivables for each day that such sums are overdue at the rate of LIBOR +2%
compounded monthly. The interest previously reflected in the financial results of 2015 was based on
PPCL (in which Dana Gas is a 35% shareholder) financial statements which reflected Dana Gas actual
cost incurred on its ordinary Sukuk of 9% profit share as per the interpretation of the terms of the HoA
agreement between PPCL and the KRG by the Company and its adviser.

The Company ended the year with an average production of 67,050 barrels of oil equivalent per day
(boepd), an increase of 5% compared to last year’s production of 63,900 boepd. This increase was mainly
due to higher production in Egypt and production coming from the Zora field in U.A.E. In Kurdistan the
Company’s share of production reduced by 11% due to sale of 5% interest in PPCL as mentioned above.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA™) decreased to USD 207 million
{AED 759 million) compared to USD 232 million {AED 851 million) in 2015.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

Cash and bank balance at year end stood at USD 302 million (AED 1,107 million), a decline of 36%
compared to the USD 470 million (AED 1,723 million) at the end of December 2015. The reduction in
cash balance was due to capital investments in the Zora project, in the U.A.E. and Egypt, loan and profit
payments, Sukuk buyback and other overheads. The Group collected a total of USD 200 million (AED
733 million) in 2016 with Egypt, Kurdistan Region of Iraq (KRI) and U.A.E. contributing USD 79 million
(AED 290 million), USD 101 million (AED 370 million) and USD 20 million (AED 73 million),
respectively.

The Company continues to monitor its capital requirements on an ongoing basis to ensure optimal
structure. At the current time the Company has not yet determined the total size of such buybacks,
however, going forward it may consider a further buy back, through open market purchases or otherwise
in accordance with law, the scale of which will depend on market conditions and the Company’s liquidity
requirements. During the year the Company bought back Ordinary sukuk amounting to USD 50.3 million
{par value).

Business Update

In line with its outlined strategy, the Dana Gas Group continues to focus on maximising the value of its
existing hydrocarbon assets and projects, while pursuing growth through a sirategy of organic exploration
opportunities in our heartland areas and new business development in the upstream and midstream value
chains. We continue to balance our capital expenditure with the available sources of cash to ensure we
maintain a robust financial position.

Reserves & Resources
{a) Dana Gas Egypt

Gaffney, Cline & Associates (GCA), a leading advisory firm carried out an independent evaluation of Dana
Gas Egypt’s hydrocarbon reserves as at 31 December 2016. Following this review, the Group’s gross
proved reserves (1P) as at 31 December 2016 were assessed at 89 MMboe (31 December 2015: 83
MMboe); an increase of 7 %. The gross proved and probable reserves (2P) as at 31 December 2016 were
estimated at 132 MMboe (31 December 2015: 130 MMboe); an increase of 2 % and the gross proved,
probable and possible reserves (3P) as at 31 December 2016 were estimated to be 184 MMboe (31
December 2015: 185 MMboe); a decrease of 1%. The 2P reserve replacement ratio for the year was 115%.

(b) Pearl Petroleum Company Limited

As reported previously, Dana Gas and Crescent Petroleum, joint operators of Pear]l Petroleum Company
Limited (“PPCL™), estimates that the P50 total geologically risked' resources of petroleum initially in-
place (PITP) of the Khor Mor and Chemchemal Fields at 75 Tscf (of wet gas) and 7 billion barrels of oil.

PPCL appointed Gaffney Cline Associates (“GCA”), to carry out a certification of the reserves for these
fields as at 31* December 2015 based on a comprehensive data set comprising ca. 1200 km 2D seismic,
the 11 wells drilled in the two fields to date plus field production data over a period of seven years.

In their report dated April 2016, GCA provide the following reserves estimates for both fields®:

a) Proved plus Probable (2P) gas and condensate reserves for Khor Mor are 8.5 Tscf and 191 MMbbl
respectively of which Dana Gas’ 35% share equates to 3 Tscf of dry gas and 67 MMbbl of condensate.

b) For Chemchemal, Proved plus Probable (2P) gas and condensate reserves are 6.6 Tscf and 119 MMbbl
respectively, with Dana Gas® 35% share being 2.3 Tscf of dry gas and 42 MMbbl of condensate.

1 Risked PIIP figures have been calculated by means of a stochastic aggregation using GeoX software with risk factors
accounting for geological uncertainties calibrated by surrounding producing oil and/or gas fields.
2 The reported hydrocarbon volumes are estimates based on professional judgment and are subject to future revisions,
upwards or downwards, as a result of future operations or as additional information becomes available.
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Reserves & Resources (continued)
(b} Pearl Petroleum Company Limited (continued)

The above figures are based on data from 2 of the 12 defined compartments in the Khor Mor Field and 1
of the 3 compartments in the Chemchemal Field. Total Dana Gas share of the Khor Mor and Chemchemal
2P reserves is therefore 5.3 Tef gas and 109 MMbbls condensate, equivalent to 990 MMboe.

The balance between these 2P reserves figures and the joint operator’s estimated risked initially in place
(zas and oil) resources (PIIP) are classified as Contingent Resources’ and Prospective Resources®.

GCA’s report confirms Dana Gas’ and Crescent Petroleum’s belief that Khor Mor and Chemchemal have
the potential to be the largest gas fields in the KRI and indeed in the whole of Iraq and thus makes them
world class assets.

(c) Sharjah Western Offshore — Zora Field

Following signing of concession agreement with Ajman in January 2014, Dana Gas has a 100% working
interest in the Zora field which spans the territorial waters of Sharjah and Ajman. Gaffney, Cline &
Associates carried out an independent evaluation of Sharjah Western Offshore — Zora Field’s hydrocarbon
reserves as on 31 December 2016. Following this review, the Group’s gross proved reserves (1P) as at 31
December 2016 were assessed at 17 MMboe (31 December 2015: 16 MMboe). The gross proved and
probable reserves (2P) as at 31 December 2016 were estimated to be 33 MMboe (31 December 2015:
31 MMboe) and the gross proved, probable and possible reserves (3P) as at 31 December 2016 were
estimated to be 65 MMboe (31 December 2015: 64 MMboe).

E&P Operations
a)l Egypt E& P operations

Dana Gas Egypt ended 2016 with production for the full year of operations of 13.7 MMboe i.e. averaging
37,600 boepd (2015: 12.4 MMboe, i.e. averaging 33,900 boepd) an increase of 11% over the corresponding
year. The higher production is a result of increased drilling activities which led to additional reserves for
the Nile Delta fields and reflects Dana Gas commitment made under the Gas Production Enhancement
Agreement (“GPEAY).

In Egypt the Company collected USD 79 million (AED 290 million), and hence realised 64% of its year’s
revenue. During the year the Company received cash of USD 77 million (AED 283 million} (2015:
TUSD 109 million / AED 400 million) and EGAS/EGPC offset payables to government owned contractors
of USD 2 million (AED 7 million) against the amounts due to the Group. At the year end the trade
receivable balance increased to USD 265 million (AED 971 million) compared to USD 221 million
(AED 810 million) at end of 2015.

The BP operated Mocha-1 exploration well in Block 3 has been completed. It reached total depth at 5,940
metres, making it the deepest onshore Nile Delta well drilled to date. Whilst the Messinian objective
encountered wet gas, the primary Qligocene target did not encounter gas in commercial quantities and the
well has been P&A’ed. Under the terms of the agreement signed in June 2015, BP agreed to carry Dana
Gas for its 50% share of the cost of the well. Consequently, Dana Gas has achieved its objective of drilling
this important calibration well at no cost to itself.

3 Those quantities of petroleum estimated to be potentially recoverable but not yet considered mature enough for
commercial development due to one or more contingencies.
* Those quantities of petroleum estimated to be potentially recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by future

development projects.
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E&P Operations (continued)

b} Pearl Petroleum Company Limited (KRI) E& P Operations

In April 2007, the Group entered into agreements with the Kurdistan Regional Government of Iraq for
developing the significant petroleum (including gas) resources in the Khor Mor and Chemchemal fields.
Since then, the focus has been on developing, processing and transporting natural gas from the Khor Mor
Field including processing and extracting LPG and condensate and providing natural gas supplies to
domestic power generation plants near Erbil and Sulaimaniya. Further development of both figlds is
planned following resolution of the ongoing legal dispute. As envisaged under the agreements, such further
development is expected to provide significant natural gas supplies for future expansion of power
generation and local industries as well as for export and sale abroad as and when the political circumstances
permit.

On 27 November 2015, Dana Gas and Crescent sold an equity interest of 5% each in Pearl Petroleum to
RWE Middle East Holding BV (“RWE”). The shareholding interest in Pearl Petroleum is now as follows:
Dana Gas: 35%, Crescent: 35%, OMV: 10%, MOL: 10% and RWE: 10%.

Dana Gas’s share (35%) of gross production in the KRI for 2016 was 9.5 MMboe, i.e. averaging 26.0
thousand BOE per day (2015 — DG Share 40% upto 26 November 2015: 10.7 MMbog, averaging 29.3
thousand BOE per day). The decrease in production is mainly due to change in Group’s interest in PPCL
from 40% to 35% in 2016 i.e. after disposal of 5% interest in PPCL on 27 November 2015 to RWEST
Middle East Holding BV,

Dana Gas share of collections for the year stood at USD 101 million (AED 370 million). At year end, Dana
Gas’ 35% share of trade receivable balance stood at USD 713 million (AED 2,613 million) — (2015: USD
727 million / AED 2,665 million).

¢) Zora Gas Field

The Zora gas field lies partly in the Sharjah Western Offshore Concession area and extends into the adjacent
Ajman Concession area with approximately 50% of the volume on each side as agreed under the initial
unitization agreement. The field produces slightly sour gas via an unmanned platform in approximately 24
meters of water depth located about 33km offshore. The platform is connected by means of 127 subsea and
onshore pipeline system to a gas processing plant located within Sharjah Hamriyah Fee Zone.

The gas plant has been in continuous production since 28 February 2016, currently delivering
approximately 12 mmscfd sales gas to Sharjah power station and producing 135 bbl/day of condensate.
Production from the Zora field during the year was 842,323 boe or 2,744 boepd (2015: Nil). As current
production rate of Sharjah-2 well has continued to decline, feasibility studies are being carried out based
on well operating data and reservoir performance, to determine optimum options for well intervention to
enhance production.

The gas plant operations is limited by the ability to handle the increased water production (>500 bbl/d),
which requires modification to inlet separation system and expansion of the water treatment package fo
improve the economic handling and safe disposal of the increased volumes of produced water. Design
modifications for the plant have been agreed, but commitment for further investment is dependent on
evaluation of well & reservoir performance and feasibility to enhance production.

' During the year, collection stood at USD 20 million (AED 73 million). At year end, the trade receivable
balance stood at USD 2 million (AED 7 million) (31 December 2015: Nil),
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UAE Gas Project

The UAE Gas Project to process and transport imported gas continues to await the commencement of gas
supplies from the National Iranian Oil Company (“NIOC”™) to Crescent Petroleum. Dana Gas has a 35%
interest in Crescent National Gas Corporation Limited (CNGCL) which is entitled to market the gas and
owns 100% of Saj Gas and UGTC, the entities that own the offshore riser platform, the offshore and
onshore pipelines and the sour gas processing plant.

Egypt Gulf of Suez — Gas Liguids Extraction Plant

The Company, through its subsidiary Danagaz Bahrain, is a 26.4% owner (effective) in Egyptian Bahraini
Gas Derivative Company (Joint Venture) that has built, owns and operates a Natural Gas Liquids Extraction
Plant in Egypt in partnership with the Egyptian National Gas Company (EGAS) and the Arab Petroleum
Investments Corporation (APICORP). The plant has a capacity to process 150 mmscf/d of gas and has
produced 2,670 boepd of propane (DG Share 26.4%: 705 boepd) and 128 boepd of butane (DG Share
26.4%: 34 boepd) during 2016.

Arbitration Cases

On 21 October 2013, Dana Gas, along with Crescent Petroleum and Pear] Petroleum (the Consortium
which holds petroleum rights in the KRI), together “the Claimants”, commenced international arbitration
proceedings at the London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA), in accordance with the dispute
resolution mechanism of the agreement signed with the Kurdistan Regional Government (KR(G) on 04
April 2007 and governed by English Law.

With effect from July 2013, the date upon which the Claimants initiated mediation proceedings with the
LCIA, the KRG ceased making any payments for the liquid products that it continued to lift and sell from
the Khor Mor plant. On 21 March 2014, the Consortium filed an interim measures application with the
Tribunal, which was successful on 10 July 2014 when the Tribunal ordered for the KRG to restore the
previous regular payments to the Consortium as of 21 March 2014, the date of the application, and until
the case is concluded.

The KRG failed to comply with and challenged the Tribunal’s order, although from September 2014, the
Company was permitted to commence local sales of condensate and LPG to third parties. On 17 October
2014, the Tribunal dismissed the KRG’s challenge and re-affirmed its order for interim measures of 10
July 2014. In addition, the Tribunal ordered the KRG to pay the Consortium USD 100 million within a
timeframe of 30 days (by 17 November 2014.) in the form of a Peremptory Order, In defanlt of its legal
obligations, the KRG failed to make payment by the stipulated deadline. Consequently, the Tribunal's
order became peremptory in nature, enabling its enforcement by the English High Court. On 12 December
2014, and with the Tribunal’s permission, an application to the High Court was made for the enforcement
of the order, with the prospect of sanctions being imposed on the KRG for non-compliance. The Court
heard the Claimants® application for the enforcement of the order during a hearing on 28 and 29 October
2015.

On 20 November 2015, the Court handed down its decision, in which it enforced the Peremptory Order
and ordered the KRG to pay the Peremptory Order within 14 days. Foltowing receipt of the judgment, the
KRG applied to challenge the Court’s order, by way of seeking (1) a discharge of the Peremptory Order;
(2) an appeal; and (3) alternatively, an extension of time to pay the Peremptory Order. At the same time
as the KRG made its application it also applied to the Tribunal to discharge the Peremptory Order.

At the hearing before the Court on 17 December 2015, the Court decided to (1) adjourn the discharge
application to allow the Tribunal to decide whether or not the Peremptory Order should be discharged; (2)
refused permission for the KRG to appeal; and (3) extended the time for the KRG to pay the Peremptory
Order to 26 February 2016. However, as a condition of this extension, the Court ordered the KRG to pay
in the meantime 3 installments of USD 8 million each by 31 December 2015, 15 January 2016 and 19
February 2016 to the Consortium. All three instalments were paid.
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Arbitration Cases {continued)

The KRG also applied to the Tribunal to discharge the Peremptory Order, which was the subject of a short
hearing before the Tribunal on § January 2016, The parties then went back before the English High Court
on 5 February 2016, in which the Court dismissed the KRG’s discharge application and upheld the
Peremptory Order. The KRG then applied to the English Court of Appeal for permission to appeal the
High Court’s judgment. The hearing for permission took place on 12 May 2016, with the Court of Appeal
refusing the KRG’s application and upholding the Peremptory Order.

Separately, in March 2016 the Claimants and the KRG independently reached an agreement whereby the
Peremptory Order will be paid down by the KRG in monthly instalments. As at 31 December 2016, the
KRG has paid the Claimants an amount of USD 53.84 million.

In relation to the arbitration proceedings on merits a one-week hearing took place in London commencing
20 April 2015 at which selected issues in the arbitration were considered.

On 3 July 2015, the Arbitral Tribunal issued a Partial Final Award dated 30 June 2015 (“First PFA™)

confirming the Consortium’s contractual rights including a number of important issues addressed at the 20

April 2015 hearing. Among other things, the First Partial Final Award confirmed:

¢ The Consortium’s exclusive long-ierm rights to develop and produce gas and petroleum from both the
Khor Mor and Chemchemal fields for the duration of the Contract, being not less than 25 years.

e The KRG’s contractual obligation to pay the Consortium for the produced condensate and LPG at
international prices, including the pricing methodology for each.

s That Dana Gas and Crescent Petroleum were entitled to farm out part of their own interests to MOL
and OMYV, and that the KRG was not entitled to a share of the farm-out proceeds.

On 21 September 2015, a one-day hearing was held during which the Consortium made an application to
the Tribunal for monetary sward of USD 1.963 billion against the KRG, being the outstanding unpaid
invoices (as of 30 June 2015) for the produced condensate and LPG calculated as per the pricing
methodology determined by the Tribunal in the First Partial Final Award. The Tribunal considered the
parties’ claims and their submissions. On 27 November 2015, the Tritimal handed down its Second Partial
Final Award (dated 27 November 2015 and updated by Memorandum of Correction dated 20 January 2016)
(“Second PFA™) in which it ordered the KRG to pay the Consortium within 28 days (i.e. by 26 December
2015) the sum of USD 1.963 billion for outstanding unpaid invoices for the produced condensate and LPG
up to 30 June 2015, as per the pricing methodology already determined by the Tribunal in the First PFA.

The Second PFA is final, binding and internationally enforceable, and does not depend upon any further
hearings or the parties’ outstanding claims and counter-claims that are yet to be deiermined in the
arbitration.

The KRG has not yet paid the USD 1.963 billion’, and on 22 December 2015, launched a challenge to the
Second PFA in the English High Court on the limited procedural grounds allowed for in arbitration. The
hearing for the KRG’s challenge was set for 28-30 November 2016. However, on 20 October 2016 the
KRG filed a notice of discontinuance in the High Court, formally withdrawing the challenge.

The Claimants’ remaining claims, including the Consortium’s substantial damage claim (currently
quantified at no less than USD 17.5 billion, excluding interest) for wrongful interference with the
Consortium’s long term rights over the Khor Mor and Chemchemal fields (as affirmed by the First PFA)
initially fell to be determined (along with KRG’s various counterclaims against the Claimants) between 5-
16 September 2016.

* Save that, as the Peremptory Order is included in the USD 1.96 billion awarded pursuant to the Second PFA, the
amount of the Second PFA now outstanding has been reduced by USD 53.84 million.
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Arbitration Cases (confinued)

In July 2016, the hearing become bifurcated, with the result that the September 2016 hearing addressed the
remainder of the Claimant’s claims but not the quantification of its claim for the wrongful late development
of the Khor Mor and Chemchemal fields, along with the various counterclaims alleged by the KRG against
the Claimants (save for its mirror counterclaim against the Consortium for wrongful late development).

On 13 February 2017, the Tribunal handed down its Third Partial Final Award dated 30 January 2017
(“Third PFA™).

Importantly, the Tribunal held in the Third PFA the following:

a. Delayed Development Claim: The Tribunal found in the Claimants® favor that the KRG wrongfully
prevented the Claimants from carrying out appraisals and such other activities as are necessary io
enable the Consortium to put forward a proposal for field development in respect of Khor Mor and
Chemchemal and thereby delayed the Claimants opportunity to develop those areas. The Tribunal
further declared that the KRG is not entitled to reject a proposal from the Consortium for a field
development plan otherwise than on reasonable grounds in accordance with good petroleum industry
practice.

b. Update on Liquid Receivables: The Tribunal ordered the KRG to pay to the Claimants USD
121,095,282 in respect of condensate and LPG lifted by or on behalf of the KRG between 30 June
2015 and 31 March 2016.

c. Entitlement to Interest: The Tribunal determined that the Claimants are entitled to interest on all
overdue liquids receivables for each day that such sums are overdue at the rate of LIBOR + 2%
compounded monthly.

d. Dismissal of KRG Counter Claims: The Tribunal dismissed in totality all of the KRG’s counterclaims
against the Claimants and found that the project was delivered within a reasonable time.

The quantification of the Claimants’ damages for the delayed development claim will be determined by
the Tribunal at a further hearing scheduled for 12-20 September 2017,

The Gas Sales & Purchase Contract between Dana Gas’ partner Crescent Petroleum and the National
Iranian Oil Company (NICC) for the supply of gas to the TJAE has been the subject of international
arbitration since June 2009. In August 2014, Dana Gas was notified by Crescent Petroleum that the Arbitral
Tribunal has issued a Final Award on the merits, determining that the 25-year Contract between it and
NIOC is valid and binding upon the parties, and that NIOC has been in breach of its contractual obligation
to deliver gas under the Contract since December 2005.

On 18 July 2016, the English High Court finally dismissed the National Iranian Oil Company ("NIOC’s)
remaining grounds of appeal against the 2014 arbitration award. The 2014 arbitration award found in
favour of Dana Gas’ partner Crescent Petroleum Company International Limited and Crescent Gas
Corporation Limited on all issues. NIOC appealed the 2014 arbitration award to the English High Court.
Most of the grounds of appeal were previously heard and dismissed by the Court in March 2016. The
finalisation of the appeal in July 2016 confirms that the 2014 award is final and binding and that NIOC has
been in breach of its gas supply obligations since 2005.

Crescent Petroleumn has informed Dana Gas that the final hearing of the remedies phase against NIOC for
non-performance of the contract (including claims for damages and indemnities for third party claims) took
place in November 2016. Due to a long post-hearing submissions timetable, the final damages Award is
expected in the second half of 2017.
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Directors
The Directors who served during the year were:

H.H. Sheikh Ahmed Bin Sultan Al-Qasimi, Honorary Chairman
Mr. Hamid Dhiya Jafar, Chairman

Mr, Rashid Saif Al-Jarwan, Deputy Chairman

Dr. Patrick Allman-Ward, Chief Executive Officer
H.E. Sheikh Sultan Bin Ahmed Bin Sultan Al-Qasimi
Mr. Abdullah Ali Al Majdouie

Mr. Majid Hamid Jafar

Mr. Nasser Al Nowais

. Mr, Said Arrata

10. Mr. Varoujan Nerguizian

11. Mr. Ziad Abdulla Ibrahim Galadari

12. Mr. Hani Abdulaziz Hussein

13. Ms. Fatima Obaid Al-Jaber

R

Aunditors

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment.

On oard of Directors

P

Director

8 March 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DANA GAS PJSC
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dana Gas PISC (the “Company” or “Dana Gas™)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2016, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs™).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs™). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the duditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of FEthics for Professional
Accountants (the “IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Emphasis of matters

(i}  We draw attention to notes 12 (b) and 14 to the consolidated financial statements which disclose that
the continued delay in commencement of gas supplies has prompted a key supplier of the Group to
initiate arbitration proceedings against the ultimate supplier; and

(ii) We also draw attention to notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements which discloses
arbitration proceedings entered into with the Kurdistan Regional Government of Traq.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matters.
Key aundit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context,

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DANA GAS PJSC
(continued)

Key audit matters (continued)
(i) Recoverability of trade receivables from the Kurdistan Regional Government of Iraq (KRG)

Total trade receivables as at 31 December 2016 include USD 713 million (note 17} (Group share of 35%
of Pearl Petroleum Company Limited “PPCL”, a joint operation) due from The Kurdistan Regional
Government of Iraq (“KRG”). The recoverability of receivables from KRG is linked to the outcome of the
ongoing arbitration and related legal proceedings. There have been rulings issued by the Arbitral Tribunal
in favor of the Consortium (which includes Dana Gas) and the same has been disclosed in more detail in
note 15 (2) to the consolidated financial statements,

On 3 July 2015, the Tribunal issued a Partial Final Award dated 30 June 2015 (“First PFA”) confirming
the Consortium’s contractual rights including a number of important issues addressed at the 20 April 2015
hearing, Among other things, the First Partial Final Award confirmed the Consortium’s exclusive long-
term rights to develop and produce gas and petroleum from both the Khor Mor and Chemchemal fields for
the duration of the Contract, being not less than 25 years. It also confirmed the KRG’s contractual
obligation to pay the Consortium for the produced condensate and L.PG at international prices, including
the pricing methodology for each and that Dana Gas and Crescent Petroleum were entitled to farm out part
of their own interests in the Contract to MOL and OMV, and that the KRG was not entitled to a share of
the farm-out proceeds.

On 27 November 2015, the Tribunal handed down its Second Partial Final Award (dated 27 November
2015 and updated by Memorandum of Correction dated 20 January 2016) (“Second PFA”) in which it
ordered the KRG to pay the Consortium within 28 days (i.e. by 26 December 2015) the sum of USD 1.963
billion for outstanding unpaid invoices for the produced condensate and LPG up to 30 June 2015, as per
the pricing methodology already determined by the Tribunal in the First PFA.

The KRG has not yet paid the USD 1.963 billion, and on 22 December 2015, launched a challenge to the
Second PFA in the English High Court on the limited procedural grounds allowed for in arbitration. The
hearing for the KRG’s challenge was set for 28-30 November 2016. However, on 20 October 2016 the
KRG formally withdrew the challenge and offered to pay the Consortium’s costs associated with it. The
KRG also undertook not to argue the same grounds as it raised in the challenge in any other proceedings
related to the Second PFA, including in relation to enforcement of the Second PFA. The Second PFA is
final, binding and internationally enforceable in courts around the world, and does not depend upon any
further hearings.

On 13 February 2017, the Company received the Third Partial Final Award (“Third PFA”™) dated 30 January
2017 as disclosed in note 15.

We have discussed the status of the ongoing legal proceedings with the Group’s legal department. We
reviewed the First, Second and Third PFAs and related arbitration documents and evaluated management’s
rationale and assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. We also obtained external legal
confirmations. In addition, we obtained an understanding of the local environment in which the Consortium
operates and its impact on the operations. We also considered cash, including collections subsequent to the
year end.

Considering the uncertainty around recoverability of trade receivables from KRG, we have included an
emphasis of this matter in this audif report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DANA GAS PJSC
(continued)

Key audit matters (continued)
(ii) Recoverability of trade receivables from the Government of Egypt

The receivables from state owned companies of Government of Egypt, EGPC and EGAS amounted to
USD 265 million (note 17) as at 31 December 2016. Given the economic uncertainty in Egypt we continue
to focus on the recoverability of this overdue amount. Although contractually, the Group is entitled to.be
paid in USD it does accept payments in Egyptian Pounds (EGP) to the extent of its local currency
requirements. At every quarter end it remains exposed to the currency fluctuations though the balances are
not material except for the EGP kept as a collateral against a USD facility. The management is hopeful that
that the recovery will not be further delayed as the economic situation in Egypt is stabilizing. The
management is confident of further progress in the collection of receivables in the near future due to its
strong relationships with Egyptian Government, There is no dispute on the outstanding receivable balance
and based on the progress made on the Gas Production Enhancement Agreement including the
commencement of shipments to allow for direct condensate export and other positive economic
developments in Egypt, the management does not foresee any recovery issue on these receivables.

We discussed the status of these receivables with the Group’s management and reviewed the Gas
production enhancement agreements. We also obtained an understanding of the local environment in which
the entity operates and its impact on the operations. We also considered cash received, including collections
subsequent to the year end.

(iii) UAE gas project assets and legal arbitration

The UAE Gas Project to process and transport imported gas continues to await the commencement of gas
supplies by the National Iranian Oi] Company (“NIOC”) to Crescent Petroleum. Dana Gas has a 35%
interest in Crescent National Gas Corporation Limited (CNGCL) and owns 100% of SajGas and UGTC,
all of whose rights to recover their losses have been preserved and whose claims are being pursued by
Crescent Petroleum. Assets of SajGas and UGTC include intangible and tangible assets of USD 289 million
and USD 242 million respectively (note 12b). Dana Gas’ 35% interest in the marketing entity CNGCL is
recorded in the balance sheet at USD 559 million (note 14). The carrying value of these assets is dependent
upon the final Tribunal Award on the damages claim against NIOC and the resultant share of Dana Gas.

Crescent Petroleum, which has the gas supply contract with NIOC, commenced international arbitration
against NIOC in June 2009 due to the continued delay in receipt of gas to supply the chain via CNGC. In
August 2014, Dana Gas was notified by Crescent Petroleum that the Arbitral Tribunal issued a Final Award
on the merits, determining that the 25-year contract between Crescent Petroleum and NIOC is valid and
binding upon the parties, and that NIOC has been in breach of'its contractual obligation to deliver gas under
the contract since December 2005.

NIOC challenged the 2014 Award in the English High Court, which was finally dismissed in July 2016
and confirmed that the Award is final and binding. The final 3 week hearing of the remedies phase against
NIOC for non-performance of the contract (including claims for damages and indemnities for third party
claims) took place in November 2016. Due to a long post-hearing submissions timetable, the final damages
Award is expected in the second half of 2017.

We have reviewed legal documents including the decision of the English High Court of July 2016 relating
to dismissal of the NIOC challenge of the Award, and discussed the progress and status with the client’s
legal department. We also reviewed the adequacy of the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

Considering the inherent uncertainty over the ultimate outcome of any arbitration or court process and
the inherent uncertainty over the enforceability of the court orders, we have included an emphasis of
this matter in this audit report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DANA GAS PISC
(continued)

Key audit‘matters (continued)
(lv) Goodwﬂl and 01] and gas interest

As-dt 31 December 2016, the Group has goodwill of USD 308 million (note 12} relating to Egyptian assets
and tangible and intangible assets amounting to USD 442 million (notes 11 & 12) relating to the oil and
gas interests of Dana Gas Egypt and USD 234 million (note 11) of development assets relating to the Zora
Gas field in UAE. The current low price environment and uncertainty over tlmlng of cash flows from these
assets presents an increased r1sk of Impz—urment

The management undertook an impairment review of these assets as at 31 December 2016 using a
discounted cash flow model supported by an independent expert’s reserve report. This impairment test was
significant because of the materiality of the balances and also as it requires significant management
judgments and assumptions that are affected by future market conditions, particularly future cil/gas prices,
expected reserves additions from the development activities currently in progress as part of Gas Production
Enhancement Agreement, commercial recoverability of resources from prospects. considered for goodwill
valuation, macro-economic conditions in Egypt and the flow rates from the Zora Gas Field.

We evaluated the assumptions-and methodologies used by the Group and the independent external expert,
in particular those relating to discount rates, capital/ operating expenditures, production profile and oil/ gas
prices. We agreed the forward looking data used in the impairment models to the business plan. We
compared the forecasts and budgets to the assumptions used by management relating to short- and long-
term oil/ gas prices to third party forecasts, discount rates by comparing key inputs, where relevant to the
externally derived data and market rates, production/ reserves volumes during the peried of the lease and
capital/ operating expenditures. We also performed audit procedures on the mathematical accuracy of the
impairment models and performed sensitivity analysis over inputs to the cash flow models. We evaluated
the objectivity, independence and expertise of the independent external expert. We also focused on the
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures about those assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment test
is most sensitive, that is, those that have the most significant effect on the determination of the recoverable
amount of oil and gas assets and goodwill which are disciosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(v) Sukuk refinancing

Cash and bank balances at 31 December 2016 stood at USD 302 million, a decrease of USD 168 million
(36 %) as compared to balances as at 31 December 2015. The liquidity position of the Group may
deteriorate in future given the low international oil/ gas prices, any change in the receipts from the
arrangement of direct local sales in KRG, and the payment commitments that the Group has with regards
to Sukuk profits, repayment of borrowings obtained for Egypt and Zora operations and repayment of Sukuk
due for maturity.on 31 October 2017. As disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has USD 350 million exchangeable Sukuk and USD 350 million ordinary Sukuk (at nominal valuc)
as at 31 December 2016, The Sukuk will be maturing on 31 October 2017. The refinancing of Sukuk is a
key audit matter as it is the main part of the Group’s working capital structure and is also subject to several
securities. - : : :

The Ordinary and Exchangeable Sukuk are secured against the shares of Dana LNG Ventures Limited
(BVI), Sajaa Gas Company Limited {Sharjah) and United Gas Transmission Company Limited (Sharjah).
In addition to the above, the security package available to holders of the New Sukuks was enhanced by
USD 300 million of value comprising security over certain receivables of the Group’s Egyptian assets,
Group’s interest in Danagaz W.L..I.. and Sajaa Gas industrial land. .
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DANA GAS PJSC
(continued)

Key audit matters (continued)
(v) Sukuk refinancing (continued)

The management has assessed the going concern of the Group based on the internal cash flow forecast for
the next 3 years and concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The management has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly none is disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Board of Directors has considered the future operating and capital cash flow requirements of the
Group, and is fully confident of meeting the Group’s license obligations despite the challenges and
uncertainties in the markets in which the Group operates. Meanwhile, with regard to the Sukuk and its
maturity in the fourth quarter of 2017, the Board considers that, after taking into account various
uncertainties that are general and specific to the Group, a number of retirement options are available to it
which are currently under evaluation.

We have discussed the various retirement options, which are currently under evaluation, with the Board
and management of the Group. We have also reviewed the supporting documents relating to various
retirement options.

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosure regarding the Sukuk refinancing and going
concern, which are included in note 25 of the consolidated financial statements.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information
included in the Group’s 2016 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. We obtained the Report of the Directors, prior to the date of our auditors’ report,
and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Group’s 2016 Annual Report after the date of our
auditors’ report.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. [If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DANA GAS PJSC
{continued)

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal
Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing-the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alfernative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control,

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

» Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
gaing coneern,

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation,

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

14




EY

Building a better
working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DANA GAS PJSC
(continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory yrequirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

i) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

i) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 and the Articles of Association
of the Company;

iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv) the financial information included in the Report of the Directors is consistent with the books of
account of the Group;

v) investments in shares and stocks during the year ended 31 December 20186, if any, are disclosed in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements;

vi) note 31 reflects material related party transactions and the terms under which they were conducted,;

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our aftention
which causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during the financial year ended
31 December 2016 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 or of
its Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at
31 December 2016; and

viii)  note 35 reflects the social contributions made during the year.

For Ernst & Young

T Lol

Thodla Hari Gopal
Partner -
Registration No. 689

(08 March 2017

Sharjah, United Arab Emirates
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes USD mm AED mm USD mm AED mm
Revenue 5 392 1,437 417 1,529
Royalties 5 (137) (502) (146) (535)
Net revenue 5 255 935 271 994
Operating costs (52) (191) (56) (205)
Depreciation and depletion 11 (100) (366) (89) (326)
Gross profit 103 378 126 463
General and administration expenses (13) (48) 23 (84)
Other income 6 - - 208 762
Investment and finance (cost) / income 7 (55) (202) 130 476
Reversal of / (provision for) surplus
over entitlement 28 39 143 (153) (561)
Provision for impairments )] (26) (24) (88)
Other expenses 19 (69) (®) (29)
Change in fair value of investment property 13 a1 “@) (1) “4)
Share of loss of a joint venture 14 3 11 (7 (26)
Exploration expenses 0] (15) (14) (51
Finance cost 8 7 (355) (77 (282)
(LLOSS) / PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX G (209) 157 576
Income tax expense 9 @1 (114) (13) (48)
(LOSS) / PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (88) (323) 144 528
(L.OSS) / PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
- Equity holders of the parent (88) (323) 146 535
- Non-controlling interest - - ) )]
(88) (323) 144 528
EARNINGS PER SHARE:
- Basic (loss) / earnings per share
(USD/AED per share) 10 (0.013) 0.046) 0.021 0.077
-  Diluted (loss) / earnings per share ‘
(USD/AED per share) 10 (0.013) (0.046) 0.019 0.072

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2016

(Loss) / profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:

Other comprehensive income fo be reciussified to
income statement in subsequent periods:

Gain/ (loss) on available-for-sale financial asset
(note 18)

Net amount transferred from other reserve
(available-for-sale financial asset)

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

- Equity holders of the parent

- Non-controlling interest

2016 2015

USD mm AED mm USD mm AED mm
(88) (323) 144 528

- - 3 11

- - 12 44

- - 15 55

(88) (323) 159 583

88) (323) 161 590
- - @) 9

(38) (323 159 583

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Notes USD mm AED mm USD mm AED mm
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1 1,105 4,050 1,032 3,784
Intangible assets 12 690 2,529 748 2,741
Investment property 13 24 87 25 91
Interest in joint ventures 14 560 2,053 559 2,048
2,379 8,719 2,364 8,664
Current assets
Inventories 16 49 180 53 194
Trade and other receivabies 17 1,026 3,761 1,017 3,728
Available for sale financial asset 18 - - - -
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 19 9 33 8 29
Cash and bank balance 20 302 1,107 470 1,723
1,386 5,081 1,543 5,674
TOTAL ASSETS 3,765 13,800 3912 14,338
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Parent
Share capital 21 1,901 6,969 1,901 6,969
Statutory reserve 22 108 395 108 395
Legal reserve 22 108 395 108 395
Retained earnings 603 2,210 693 2,540
Other reserves 23 3 11 2 7
Convertible bonds- equity component 25 58 212 38 212
Attributable to equity holders of the Parent 2,781 10,192 2,870 10,518
Non-controlling interest 1 4 1 4
Total equity 2,782 10,196 2,871 10,522
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 25 62 227 810 2,069
Provisions 26 11 40 16 59
73 267 826 3,028
Current liabilities
Borrowings 25 731 2,680 51 187
Trade payables and accruals 27 138 506 150 550
Provision for surplus over entitlements (net) 28 41 151 14 51
910 3,337 215 788
Tatal liabilities 983 3,604 1,041 3816
TOT LIABILITIES 3,765 13,800 3,912 14,338
——‘-__-——-
Director Director
8 March 2017 % March 2017

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dana Gas PISC and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) / Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and depletion 11
Other income
Investment and finance (cost)/income 7
(Reversal of)/provision for surplus over
entitlement
Provision for impairments
Change in fair value of investment property 13
Share of loss of a joint venture 14

Finance cost
Directors® compensation

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Trade payables and accruals

Net cash generated from operating activities -
Income tax paid

Net cash flows generated from operating activities

INVESTING ACTEVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Expenditure on intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of interest in joint operation
Proceeds from disposal of

available-for-sale financial asset
Investment and finance income received
Investment in joint venture
Investment redeemed

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of loans

Repurchase of Sukuk

Finance costs paid

Deposit — Murabaha facility 20

Net cash flow (used in)/from
financing activities

NET (PECREASE)INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 20

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE END OF THE YEAR 20

2016 2015

USD mm AED mm USD mm AED mm

(57) 209 157 576

100 366 89 326
- - 33) (121
55 202 130) (476)

3% (143) 153 561

7 26 24 88

1 4 1 4

3 11 7 26

77 282 77 282

) ) - -

145 532 345 1,266
(12) 44) (107) (393)
4 14 9) (33)
(24) (88) a3 (48)

113 414 216 792
(31) (114) 13 (48)

82 300 203 744
(86) (315) (156) (571
26) (95) (25) (92)

- - 162 593

- - 54 198

4 14 5 18

3) 1) - -

- - 1 4

(111) 407) 41 150

9 33 143 524
39 (143) ®) (29)
(45) (164) 24) (88)
(64) 234) (69) (254)
19 70 29 (106)

(120) (438) 13 47

(149) (545) 257 941

441 1,615 184 674

292 1,070 441 1,615

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Dana Gas PISC (“Dana Gas™ or the “Company™) was incorporated in the Emirate of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates
as a Public Joint Stock Company on 20 November 2005 pursuant to incorperation decree number 429/2005 issued by
the Ministry of Economy. Dana Gas shares are listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (ADX).

The Company, its subsidiaries, joint operations and joint ventures constitute the Group (the “Group™). The Group is
engaged in the business of exploration, production, ownership, transportation, processing, distribution, marketing and
sale of natural gas and petroleum related products, including the development of gas related projects and services.

The Company’s registered head office is at P. 0. Box 2011, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates with presence in Bahrain,
Cairo, Kurdistan Region of Iraq and London.

The UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 (*Companies Law™) has come info effect from 28 June 2015 replacing the
Federal Law No. 8 of 1984,

Principal subsidiaries and joint arrangements of the Group at 31 December 2016 and the Company percentage of

ordinary share capital or interest are set out below:

Subsidiaries % Country of incorporation Principal activifies
Dana Gas LNG Ventures Limited 100 British Virgin Islands 0Oil and Gas exploration
& production
Dana Gas Egypt 100 Barbados Oil and Gas exploration
& production
Dana Gas Exploration FZE 100 UAE Qil and Gas exploration
& production
Sajaa Gas Private Limited 100 UAE Gas Swestening
Company (“SajGas”)
United Gas Transmissions 100 UAE Gas Transmission
Company Limited (“UGTC™)
Danagaz (Bahrain) WLL 66 Bahrain Gas Processing
Joint Operations % Area of operation Principal activities
Pearl Petroleum Company 35 Kurdistan Region of Traq O1il and Gas exploration
Limited (“Pearl Petroleum™) & production
UGTC/ Emarat JV 50 Emirate of Sharjah Gas Transmission
Joint Ventures % Country/Area of operation Principal activities
Egyptian Bahraini Gas Derivative 26.4 Egypt Gas Processing
Company (“EBGDCO”)
Crescent National Gas Corporation 35 Emirate of Sharjah Gas Marketing
Limited (“CNGCL”)
GASCITIES Ltd 50 MENASA Gas Cities
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financizl statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment property,
available-for-sale financial asset and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss account that have been
measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USD), which is
the Company’s functional currency, and all the values are rounded to the nearest million (USD mm) except where
otherwise indicated. The United Areb Emirates Dirhams (AED) amounts have been presented solely for the
convenience to readers of the consolidated financial statements. AED amounts have been translated at the rate of
AED 3.6655 to USD 1.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS} as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
gccouniing estimates. [t also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following standards and amendments have been adopted by the Group for the first time effective for the financial
year beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment
that has been issued but is not yet effect. The nature and the impact of these changes are disclosed below. Although
these new standards and amendments applied for the first time in 2016, they did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The nature and the impact of each new standard or amendment is
described below:

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint
operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constituies a business, must apply the relevant IFRS 3 Business
Combinations principles for business combination accounting. The amendments also clarify that a previously held
interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation
if joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to TFRS 11 to specify that the amendments
do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the
same ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation
and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are applied prospectively. These
amendments do not have any impact on the Group as there has been no interest acquired in a joint operation during
the year.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets that
revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is a
part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method
cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to
amortise intangible assets. The amendments are applied prospectively and do not have any impact on the Group,
given that it has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity
method in their separate financial statements have to apply that change retrospectively. These amendments do not
have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continned)

Annual improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

These improvements includes:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discorntinued Operations

Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to the owners. The amendment
clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered a new plan of disposal,
rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the application of the requirements
in IFRS 5. This amendment is applied prospectively.

TAS 34 Inferim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the
interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). The other information within the interim
financial report must be available to users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and at the sarme time.
This amendment is applied retrospectively.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments
clarify:
¢  The materiality requirements in IAS 1
s That specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and OCT and the statement of financial position may
be disaggregated
That entities have {lexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements
That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be
presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the
statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and OCE. These amendments do not have any impact
on the Group.

Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issnance of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when
they become effective. The standards are not expected to have any material impact on the consclidated financial
statements of the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

During July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments™ with all the three phases. IFRS 9 sets out the
requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell
non-financial items. IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement™. IFRS 9 as
issued in July 2014 will be implemented at the mandatory date on 1 January 2018. The standard is not expected to
have any impact on the Group.

IFRS 16 Leases

During January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 “Leases” which sets out the principle for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases.

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 1AS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues
to classify its leases as operating leases or financial leases, and fo account for those two types of leases differently.

IFRS 16 introduced a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all
leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognise
a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments.

The new standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is
permitted.
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Standards issned but not yet effective
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 13 specifies the accounting treatment for all revenue arising from contracts with customers. It applies to all
entities that enter into contracts to provide goods or services to their customers, unless the contracts are in the scope
of other IFRSs, such as IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction Coniracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC
13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of
Assets from Customers; and SIC-31 Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The standard is
effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018, and early adoption is permitted.

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative — Amendments to IAS 7

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require an entity
to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application of the
amendment, entities are not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. The amendments will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted. The application
of amendments will result in adding limited amount of disclosure information.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions — Amendments to IFRS 2

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligation; and accounting where a modification
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity
settled.

Entities may apply the amendments prospectively and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018, with early application permitted.

Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to 148 40}

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or
development into, or out of investment property, The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the property
meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere
change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use, Entities
should apply the amendments prospectively and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
Early adoption of the amendments is permitted and must be disclosed.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the nonmonetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. Entities may apply the amendments on a fully
retrospective or prospective basis. The new interpretation will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018. Early application of interpretation is permitted and must be disclosed.

IAS 12 Recognition of querred’ Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses — Amendments to 1AS 12

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits against
which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference, Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and expiain the circumstances in which
taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. These amendments are
cffective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early application permitted.
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Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2016.

(a} Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which conirol is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.

Where the Group has less than a majority of the voting, or similar, rights of an investee, it considers all relevamt facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including the contractual arrangement(s) with
the other vote holders of the investee, rights arising from other contractual arrangements and the Group”s voting rights
and potential voting rights. The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control. Specificatly, the Group controls an investee
if and only if the Group has:

- Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the

nvestee)
- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

-  The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

- Righis arising from other contractual arrangements

- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owner of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date.

The Group recognises any non-conirolling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proporticnate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gain or losses arising from such
re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquire and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquire over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to conirol the subsidiary.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)
(@) Subsidiaries (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation, A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transaction between Group companies are eliminated.,
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary amounis reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform to the Group’s accounting policies.

(b} Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
— that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

{c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group loses
control over a subsidiary, it dercognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest
and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.

(d) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the prefit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence {s retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/
(loss) of associates in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in the income statement.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

(e} Joint arrangements

The Group has applied IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements as of 1 January 2013. Under IFRS 11, investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor. '

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity
method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. When the
Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint ventures (which includes any long-
term inferests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the
statement of profit or loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.
‘When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

Afier application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss
on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is
objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint
venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture” in the
statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint confrol of the arrangement have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities, refating to the arrangement,

In relation to its interest in joint operations, the Group recognises its:
e  Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly

e  Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly
» Revenue from sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operations
e  Share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operations
*  Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating
decision-maker. The Chief Operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer who makes strategic
decisions.
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Foreign currency translation

{a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in USD which is the Company’s functional currency and AED is presented as the Group’s
presentation currency for the convenience of the users of the consolidated financial statements,

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated imto the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale are
analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other
changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost are
recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in income statement as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in the available-for-sale reserve
in other comprehensive income.

{c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

a) assets and liabilities for each items of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date
of statement of financial position;

b) income and expenses for cach income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

¢) all resuiting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Preperty, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is computed on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Oil and gas properties unit-of-production

Buildings 25 years

Gas plant 15 — 25 years/unit-of-production
Pipelines & related facilities 25 years/umit-of-production
Other assets:

Computers 2-3 years

Furniture and fixtures 3 years — 5 years

Vehicles 3 years — 5 years

Leasehold improvements over the expected period of lease

The camrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indications exist and where the carrying
values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount being the
higher of their fair value less costs to sell and their value in use.

The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial vear end and
adjusted prospectively if appropriate.
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Property, plant and equipment (¢continued)

Expenditure incurred to replace 2 component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for
scparately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property, plant and
equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the income statement as the expense is incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. (ains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amoumt and are recognised in the income statement.

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost. On commissioning, capital work-in-progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment and depreciated or depleted in accordance with Group policies.

Oil and gas assets

Qil and natural gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are accounted for using the *successful efforts’ method
of accounting. Pre-license costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. License costs paid in connection
with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised over the term of the permit.
Exploration license and leaschold property acquisition costs are capitalised in intangible assets. Geological and
geophysical costs are recognised in the income statement, as incurred.

Costs directly associated with an exploration well are capitalised as an intangible asset until the drilling of the well is
complete and the results have been evaluated. If hydrocarbons are not found, the exploration expenditure is written
off as a dry hole. If hydrocarbons are found and, subject to further appraisal activity which may include the drilling
of further wells (exploration or exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells), are likely to be capable of commercial
development, the costs continue to be carried as an asset. All such carried costs are subject to a technical, commercial
and management review at least once a year to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract vaiue
from the discovery. When this is no longer the case, the costs are written off. When proven reserves of oil and natural
gas are determined and development is sanctioned, capitalisation is made within property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets according to the nature of the expenditure. Expenditure on the construction, installation or
completion of infrasiructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the drilling of development wells, including
unsuccessful development or delineation wells, is capitalised within oil and gas properties.

(a) Depletion
Oil and gas properties are depleted using the unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates are based on proved
reserves, which are oil, gas and other mineral reserves estimated to be recovered from existing facilities using current

operating methods.

(b) Impairment — exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when reclassified to development tangible or intangible
assets, or whenever facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the exploration and evaluation assets® carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of the exploration and evaluation assets” fair value less cost to sell and their value in use. For the
purpose of assessing impairment, the exploration and evaluation assets subject to testing are grouped with existing
cash-generating units of production fields that are located in the same geographical region.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination relating to oil and gas properties are recognised separately
from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or legal rights and its fair value can be measured
reliably.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are
not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the income statement,
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Intangible assets (continued)

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the
amortisation petiod or method, as appropriate, and treated as a change in accounting estimate.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level. When development in respect of the ol and gas properties is internally approved,
the related amount is transferred from intangible assets to property, plant and equipment and depleted in accordance
with the Group’s policy. If no future activity is planned, the remaining balance is written off.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over
Group’s interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquire and
the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquire.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 31 December and when circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU {or
group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying a
mount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset or a cash generating unit {CGU)
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group
makes an estimate of the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. An asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, uniess
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets in
which case, the asset is tested as part of a large CGU to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount, In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assumptions of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecest calculations, which are prepared
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast
calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and
applied to project future cash flows afier the fifth year.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to its recoverable amount.
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had
no jmpairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Impairment losses recognised in relation to goodwill
are not reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount.
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Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified
in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the shori-term. Derivatives are also categorised as
held for trading uniess they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected
to be settled within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise “trade and
other receivables’.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this caiegory or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose
of the investment within 12 months of the reporting period. After initial measurement, AFS investments are
subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised as “other comprehensive income™ in
the AFS reserve (fair value reserve) until the investment is derecognised. At that time cumulative gain is recognised
in other income and cumulative loss is recognised as finance costs and removed from AFS reserve.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date —the date on which the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss is
initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement,

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.

(Gain or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss® category
are presented in the income statement within ‘investment and finance income’ in the period in which they arise.
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as
part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

The fair value of quoted investments is based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active
{and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These inciudes the use of
recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if,
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation and
where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent expenditure is added to
the carrying value of investment properties when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the
originally assessed standard of performance, will flow to the Group. Any expenditure that results in the maintenance
of property to an acceptable standard or specification is treated as repairs and maintenance expenses and is charged
to the consolidated income statement in the period in which it is accrued,

Subsequently investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date.
Any gains or loss arising from changes in fair values of investment properties are included in the income statement,
Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external, independent valuer,
applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the income statement in the period of
derecognition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price, cost of production,
transportation and other directly allocable expenses. Costs of spares and consumables are determined on a weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary cowrse of business, less estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate
for doubtful accounts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off
when there is no possibility of recovery.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial
position.

Trade payable and accruals
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the
supplier or not.

Provisions

General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event,
and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured.

Decommissioning liability

Decommissioning costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated
cash flows and are recognised as part of that particular asset. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre tax rate
that reflects the risks specific to the decommissioning liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred
and recognised in the income statement as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of decommissioning are reviewed
annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added
to ot deducted from the cost of the asset.The abandonment and site restoration costs initially recorded are depleted
using the unit-of-production method based on proven oil and gas reserves. Subsequent revisions to abandonment and
site restoration costs are considered as a change in estimates and are accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (contimued)

Employees’ end of service benefits

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. The expected
costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. With respect to its UAE national employees, the
Group makes contributions to a pension fund established by the General Pension and Social Security Authority
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these coniributions,
which are expensed when due.

Income Taxes
In Egypt, the government receives production in lieu of income tax. The Group records this production as a cutrent

income tax expense.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes

substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of respective assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognised
~ as finance cost in the income statemnent in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Profit-bearing loans and borrowings

All profit-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of
issue costs directly attributable to the borrowing. The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial instrument.

After initial recognition, profit-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective profit rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or
premium on settlement.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted into share capital at the option of the holder and are accounted for as
compound financial instruments. The equity component of the convertible bonds is calculated as the excess of issue
proceeds over the present value of the future interest and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option.

Share based payment transactions

Certain employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for either equity instruments (“equity
settled transactions™) or resiricted shares.

Restricted shares

Service-based restricted shares are granted at no cost to key employees and generally vest one third each year over a
three year period from the date of grant. Restricted shares vest in accordance with the terms and conditions established
by the Board of Directors and are based on continued service.

The fair value of service-based restricted shares is determined based on the numbers of shares granted and the closing
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The cost is being amortised on a straight line method,
based on the vesting period.

33




Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Current versue non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification.
An asset as current when it is:
- Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period
Or
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:
- Itis expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
- Ttis held primarily for the purpose of trading
- ltis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period
Or
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. Amounis previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated
income statement in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in the consolidated income statement, in the
same line of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item. However, when the
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the
gains and losses previously accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement
of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group
revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or it no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately
in the consolidated income statement.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Net revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
taking into account contractually defined terms of payment, excluding royalties, discounts, rebates, and other sales
taxes or duties. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Revenue from sale of hydrocarbons

Revenue from sale of hydrocarbons is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the buyer and the amount of revenue and the costs of the transaction can be measured reliably, which is considered
to occur when title passes to the customer.

Finance income
Income from surplus funds invested with financial institutions and interest charged to debtors for overdue receivables
is recognised as the profit/interest accrues.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDCEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent asset and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and
assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actuzl outcomes
can differ from these estimates if different assumptions were used and different conditions existed. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Estimates and assemptions
The Group has identified the following areas where significant estimates and assumptions are required, and where if
actual results were to differ, may materially affect the financial position or financial results reported in future periods.
Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively. Further information on each of these and how they impact the
vartous accounting policies are described in the relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements. The Group
based its assumptions and estimates on parameter available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market change or
circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they
occur. .
¢ Impairment of goodwill: The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
each cash-generating unit and also to determine a suitable discount rate in order to calculaie the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2016 was USD 308 million (2015:
USD 308 million).

¢ Recoverability of intangible oil and gas assets: The Group assesses at each statement of financial position
date whether there is any evidence of impairment in the carrying value of its intangible oil and gas assets.
This requires management to estimaie the recoverable value of its intangible oil and gas assets using
estimates and assumptions such as long term oil prices, discount rates, operating costs, firture capital
requirements, decommissioning costs, explorations potentials, reserves and operating performance
uncertainty, These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. The carrying amount of
such intangibles at 31 December 2016 was USD 93 million (2015; USD 151 million).

¢ The Group is entitled to further compensation and payments, however as of the reporting date these cannot
be reasonably ascertained,

¢ The Group carries its investment property at fair value, with changes in fair values being recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The Group engaged a firm of qualified independent property consultant to
determine fair value reflecting market conditions at 31 December 2016,

* Decommissioning costs: Decommissioning costs will be incurred by the Group at the end of the operating
life of some of the Group’s facilities and properties. The Group assesses its decommissioning provision at
each reporting date. The ultimate decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in
response to many factors, including changes to relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration
techniques or experience at other production sites. The expected timing, extent and amount of expenditure
can also change, for example in response to changes in reserves or changes in laws and reguiations or their
interpretation. Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision for
decommissioning. As & result, there could be significant adjustments to the provisions established which
would affect future financial results. The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate
of the present value of the future decommissioning costs required.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

e  Units of production depreciation of oil and gas properties: Oil and gas properties are depreciated using the
units of production (UOP) method over total proved reserves. This results in a depreciation/amortisation
charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining production from the field. Each items” life,
which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and to present assessments of
economically recoverable reserves of the field at which the asset is located. These calculations require the
use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of fuiure
capital expenditure. The calculation of the UOP rate of depreciation could be impacted to the extent that
actual production in the future is different from current forecast production based on total proved reserves,
or future capital expenditure estimates changes. Changes to prove reserves could arise due to changes in the
factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves and are accounted for prospectively.

s Exploration and evaluation expenditures: The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration
and evaluation expenditure requires judgment to determine whether it is likely that future economic benefits
are likely, from future either exploitation or sale, or whether activities have not reached a stage which permits
a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. The determination of reserves and resources is itself an
estimation process that requires varying degrees of uncertainty depending on how the resources are
classified. These estimates directly impact when the Group defers exploration and evaluation expenditure.
The deferral policy requires management {0 make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and
circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. Any
such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available, If, after expenditure is
capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the
relevant capitalised amount is written off in profit or loss in the period when the new information becomes
available.

»  Hydrocarbon reserve and resource estimates: Oil and gas properties are depreciated on a units UOP basis at
a rate calculated by reference to total proved reserves determined in accordance with the Society of
Petroleum Engineers’ rules and incorporating the estimated future cost of developing those reserves. The
Group estimates its commercial reserves based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons
relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the hydrocarbon body and
suitable production techniques and recovery rates. Commercial reserves are determined using estimates of
oil and gas in place, recovery factors and future commodity prices, the latter having an impact on the total
amount of recoverable reserves and the proportion of the gross reserves which are atiributable to the host
government under the terms of the relevant commercial arrangements. Future development costs are
estimated using assumptions as to the number of wells required io produce the commercial reserves, the cost
of such wells and associated production facilities, and other capital costs. The carrying amount of ol and
gas properties at 31 December 2016 is shown in Note 12.

As the economic assumptions used may change and as additional geological information is obtained during

the operation of a field, estimates of recoverable reserves may change. Such changes may impact the Group’s

reported financial position and results, which include:

*  The carrying value of oil and gas properties, property, plant and equipment, and goodwill may be
affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows.

s Depreciation and amortisation charges in profit or loss may change where such charges are determined
using the UOP methed, or where the useful life of the related assets change.

¢  Provisions for decommissioning may change as the changes to the reserve estimates affect expectations
about when such activities will occur and the associated cost of these activities.
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4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) that are used to make strategic decisions. The CEO considers the business from a geographic perspective
which is divided into three geographical units. The Group’s financing and investments are managed on a Group basis
and not allocated to segment,

Year ended 31 December 2016

United Arab Kurdistan Region

Emirates Egypt of Irag Total

USD mm USD mm USD nmm USD mm
Revenue net of royalties 23 154 78 255
Gross profit 103
General and administration expenses (13)
Investment and finance loss {55)
Reversal of surplus over entitlement 39
Provision for impairments N
Other expenses 19
Change in fair value of investment property )
Share of loss of a joint venture 3)
Exploration expenses @
Finance cost : 97)
Loss before income tax &7
Income tax expense 31)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (88)
Segment assets as at 31 December 2016 1,659 1,111 995 3,765
Segment liabilities as at 31 December 2016 784 131 68 983
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4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information

Capital expenditure:
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Total

Operating cost

Depreciation and depletion

Change in fair value of investment property
Provision for impairments

Exploration expenses

Year ended 31 December 2015

Revenue net of royalties

Gross profit

General and administration expenses
Other income

Investment and finance income
Provision for surplus over entitlement
Provision for impairments

Other expenses

Change in fair value of investment property
Share of loss of a joint venture
Exploration expenses

Finance cost

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

United Arab
Emirates Egypt
USD mm USD mm
- 29
6 87
6 116
11 23
15 68
1 -
6 1
- 4
United Arab
Emirates Egypt
USD mm USD mm
4 125

Kurdistan Region
of Iraq
USD rmun

13

17

Kurdistan Region

of Irag
USD mm

142

Total
USD mm

29
93

122

Total
USD mm

271

126
(23)
208
130

(153)
(24)

®
)
@)
(14)

(77)

(13)
144
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4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets as at 31 December 2015

Segment liabilities as at 31 December 2015

Other segment information
Capital expenditure:

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Total

Operating costs

Depreciation and depletion

Change in fair value of investment property
Provision for Irmpairments

Exploeration expenses

5 REVENUE

(ross revenue

Tariff fee

Less: royalties

Net revenue

United Arab
Emirates
USD mm

1,792

877

150

150

b2

14

Kurdistan Region
Egypt of Irag
USD mm USD mm
1,105 1,015
133 31
38 -
46 -
84 -
34 22
75 12
10 -
14 -
2616
USD mm
388
4
n
37
255

Royalties relate to Government share of production in Egypt and U.A.E.

Tariff fees relates to fixed pipeline capacity fees earned by UGTC.

6 OTHER INCOME

On 27 November 2013, in relation to the arbitration dispute between Dana Gas, Crescent Petroleum (CPCIL) and
RWE SUPPLY & TRADING GmbH (RWE), in the London Court of International Arbitration, the parties reached
an amicable and mutually beneficial settlement agreement with RWE to address all claims and bring the arbitration
to a close. The settlement of arbitration including the sale of a 5% interest in Pearl by Dana Gas (refer Note 30)
resulted in other income of USD 208 million. The Company is entitled to further confined payments from RWE only
in case and in the amount dividends are distributed to RWE by Pearl (based on RWE’s 10% equity share in Pearl).

However, as of the reporting date a contingent payment (if any) cannot be reasonably ascertained.

Total
USD mm

3,912

1,041

38
196

234
56

89

24

14

2015
USD mm
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7 INVESTMENT AND FINANCE (COST) / INCOME

- 2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Interest on overdue receivable (reversed) / accrued (note 28) (66) 133
Gain on buyback of Sukuk (note 25a) 6 3
Profit from bank deposits 4 4
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 19) 1 -
Loss on disposal of available for sale financial asset - (12)
Dividend income - 2
(55) 130
8 FINANCE COST
2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Profit on Sukuk (note 25a) 69 70
Zora gas field project finance (note 25b) 5 4
Egypt equipment and building loan (note 25¢ & d) 2 1
Murabaha facility (note 25¢) 1 1
Exchange loss 20 10
Less: Finance cost capitalised - )
97 77

9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

a) UAE
The Company is not liable to corporate income tax in its primary jurisdiction (UAE). Dana (Gas Exploration FZE is
however liable to income tax at a rate of 50%.

b) Egypt

The income tax expense in the statement of income relates to Dana Gas Egypt operations which is taxed at an average
tax rate of 40.55% (2015: 40.55%). This tax is paid by Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation {(EGPC)/Egyptian
Natural Gas Holding Company (EGAS) on behalf of the Company from their share of production. Dana Gas Egypt
does not have any deferred tax asset/liability at year end,

¢) Kurdistan Region of Traq
The Authorisation provides that corporate income tax in the Kurdistan Region of Traq will be paid directly by the
KRG to the relevant tax authorities on behalf of the company,

40




Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

2016 2015
Earnings:
Net (loss) / profit for the year - USD mm (88) 146
Shares:
Weighted average number of shares outstanding for calculating basic EPS- million 6,969 6,964
EPS (Basic) — USD per share: (0.013) 0.021

(b) Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has two categories of dilutive
potential ordinary shares: convertible sukuk and restricted shares. The convertible sukuk is assumed to have been
converted into ordinary shares and the net profit is adjusted to eliminate the finance cost effect. For the restricted
shares the total numbers of shares which wilt vest over the period are considered to calculate dilution.

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Earnings:
Net (loss) / profit for the year (88) 146
Finance cost on exchangeable Sukuk 24 24
(64) 170
Shares:
Weighted average number of shares outstanding for calculating basic EPS- million 6,969 6,964
Adjustments for:
Restricted shares {million) 30 19
Assumed conversion of exchangeable Sukuk (million)* 1,713 1,713
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share (million) 8,712 8,606
EPS (Diluted) — USD per share: (0.013) 0.019

* As per the agreement, the conversion rate for the Converiible sukuk was set at a 50% premium to the 75 calendar
day volume-weighted average price, measured over a pericd commencing on 1 December 2012 (with a floor of
AED 0.75 and cap of AED 1.00). The initial effective exchange price for the convertible sukuk was determined on
13 February 2013 and has been fixed at AED 0.75 per share (floor price).

Note: The conversion of exchangeable Sukuk is anti-dilutive and has no impact on the EPS for the year ended 31
December 2016.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 31 December 2016

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(a) Oil and Gas Interests

Transmission Gas
Oil and gas & sweetening processing Development

interests rights rights cost Goodwill Total

USD mm USDmm  USD mm USD mm USDmm  USD mm
Cost at 1 January 2016 253 289 7 2 308 859
Less: impairment (102) - 1)) 2) B (111)
At 1 Japuary 2016 151 289 - - 308 748
Additions (net) 26 - - - - 26
Transfer to property, plant

and equipment (note 11) (84) - - - - (84)
At 31 December 2016 23 289 - - 308 690
Transmission Gas
Oil and gas & sweetening pracessing Developmemt  Goodwill Total

interests rights rights cost

USD mm USDmm  USD mm USD mm USDmm  USD mm
Cost at 1 January 2015 223 289 7 2 308 829
Less: impairment 99 - - 2 - (101)
At 1 January 2015 124 289 7 - 308 728
Additions 38 - - - - 38

- Transfer to property, plant
and equipment (note 11) (8) - - - - ()]

Provision for impairment (3) - )] - - (10)
At 31 December 2015 151 289 - - 308 748

Qil and gas interests of USD 93 million relates to Dana Gas Egypt which has a number of concessions and
development leases in Egypt as described below in more detail:

El Wastani Development Lease — This development lease is held with a 100% working interest and represents
approximately 7% of current production in Dana Gas Egypt. El Wastani production includes both gas and
associated gas liquids. This lease has 13,017 acres of land iIncluded within its boundary and is located in the Nile
Delta of Egypt.

South El Manzala Development Leases — These development leases are held with a 100% working interest and
are not currently producing. These development leases have 16,055 acres of land included within their boundaries
and are located in the Nile Delta of Egypt.

West El Manzala Development Leases (West El Manzala Concession) — These development leases are held with
a 100% working interest. These development leases have 146,039 acres of land included within their boundaries
and are located in the Nile Delta of Egypt. To date, eleven development leases are producing both natural gas
and associated liquids representing approximately 82% of Dana Gas Egypt current production.

West El Qantara Development Leases (West El Qantara Concession) — These development leases are held with
a 100% working interest. These development leases have 4,324 acres of land included within their boundaries
and are located in the Nile Delta of Egypt. To date, two development leases are producing both natural gas and
associated liquids representing approximately 11% of Dana Gas Egypt current production.

North Al Arish Offshore (Block-6) - In April 2013, Dana Gas Egypt was awarded a 100% working interest in
the North El Arish Offshore (Block 6) concession area. The area is located offshore Nile Delta, in the eastern
part of the Mediterranean Sea. A 3D seismic acquisition was recently carried out in the Block, covering 1,830
full fold sq. Km.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
(a) Oil and Gas Interests (continued)

e  North Al Salhiya Onshore (Block-1) - In September 2014, Dana Gas Egypt was awarded a 100% working interest
in the North El Sathiya Onshore (Block 1) concession area. The area is located onshore Nile Delta.

* El Matariya Onshore (Block-3) - In September 2014, Dana Gas Egypt was awarded a 50% working interest in
the Block 3 concession area. The area is located onshore Nile Delta. As per the concession agreement, Dana Gas
Egypt will with BP as partner and operator will participate on a 50:50 basis. The first deep target exploration
well in the concession was spud in May 2016. Subsequent to the year end, the BP operated Mocha-1 exploration
well in Block 3 has been completed. It reached total depth at 5,940 metres, making it the deepest onshore Nile
Delta well drilled to date. Whilst the Messinian objective encountered wet gas, the primary Oligocene target did
not encounter gas in commercial quantities and the well has been P&A’ed. Under the terms of the agreement
signed in June 2015, BP agreed to carry Dana Gas for its 50% share of the cost of the well. Consequently, Dana
Gas has achieved its objective of drilling this important calibration well at no cost to itself.

(b) Transmission and sweetening rights

Intangible assets include USD 289 million which represent the fair value of the rights for the transmission and
sweetening gas and related products acquired by the Company through its shareholdings in SajGas and UGTC. The
fair value of the rights acquired in 2005 was determined by reference to valuation exercises undertaken by
professionally qualified independent third parties based on the expected future cash flows arising from the underlying
contractual relationships. The intangible assets will be amortised over 25 years from the date of commencement of
commercial activity in accordance with the terms of the contracts to which they refate. Commercial activity has not
yet commenced. In July 2010, National Iranian Oil Company (NIOC) introduced gas into its completed transmission
network and Dana Gas’ UGTC pipeline and SajGas processing facilities in Sharjah for commissioning purposes.
However, subsequently as it pressured up, NIOQC discovered significant leaks in its offshore gas transmission system
which needs rectification. Notwithstanding this, Crescent Petroleum is continuing with international arbitration to
seek a ruling on its binding 25 years gas supply contract with NIOC,

The Company was notified by Crescent Petroleum on 10 August 2014 that the Arbitral Tribunal has issued a Final
Award on the merits, determining that the 25 year contract between it and NIOC is valid and binding upon the parties,
and that NTOC has been in breach of its contractual obligation to deliver gas under the Contract since December 2005,

On 18 July 2016, the English High Court finally dismissed the National Iranian Gil Company (*NIOC’s) remaining
grounds of appeal against the 2014 arbitration award. The 2014 arbitration award found in favour of Dana Gas’
partner Crescent Petroleumn Company International Limited and Crescent Gas Corporation Limited en all issues,
NIOC appealed the 2014 arbitration award to the English High Court. Most of the grounds of appeal were previously
heard and dismissed by the Court in March 2016. The finalisation of the appeal in July 2016 confirms that the 2014
award is final and binding and that NIOC has been in breach of its gas supply obligations since 2005.

Crescent Petroleum has informed Dana Gas that the final hearing of the remedics phase against NIOC for non-
performance of the contract (including claims for damages and indemnities for third party claims) took place in
November 2016. Due to a long post-hearing submissions timetable, the final damages Award is expected in the second
half of 2017,

In accordance with IAS 36 requiremnent relating to intangible assets not yet available for use, management had
undertaken an impairment review of the intangible assets as at 31 December 2016. Management has reviewed the
various inputs into the original valuation model and believes that the inputs into the original valuation model have
not materially changed.

{¢) Goodwill
Goodwill of USD 308 million relates to the acquisition of Dana Gas Egypt (previously known as Cenfurion) in
January 2007 which enabled Dana Gas to acquire the upsiream business qualification and therefore the rights to
development. The recoverable amount of the above cash generating unit has been determined based on value in use
calculation using cash flow projections approved by senior management up to a 20 year period or the economic limit
of the producing field. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 10% (2015: 10%). Cash flows are
generated using forecasted production, capital and operating cost data over the expected life of each accumulation.
Management believes that currently there is no reasonable change in assumptions used which would impact Goodwill.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations
The calculation of value in use for the oil and gas interest is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

e Financial returns;

e Discount rates;

¢ Oil prices; and

e Production profiles.

Financial returns: estimates are based on the unit achieving returns on existing investments (comprising both those
that are currently cash flowing and those which are in exploration and development stage and which may therefore
be consuming cash) at least in line with current forecast income and cost budgets during the planning period.

Discount rafes: discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to the above unit. This is the
benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate fiture investment proposals.

Oil prices: management has used an oil price assumption based internal estimates and available market data for the
impairment testing of its individual oil & gas investments.

Production prafiles: management has used its internally developed economic models of reserves and production as a
basis of calculating value in use,

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
The calculation for value in use for the oil and gas interest is most seasitive to the following assumptions:

s Discount rate

The Group generally estimates values in use for CGU using a discounted cash flow model. The future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate of 10% (2015: 10%) that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

*  Crude oil price

The future cash flows are sensitive to oil price. If the oil price forecast were to decrease by 20%, the impairment
charge would have been higher by USD 11 million.

Further any change in financial refurns and productions profiles will also have an impact on the impairment charge.

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The movement in investment property during the year is as follows:

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Balance at 1 January 25 26
Change in fair value @ 6y
Balance at 31 December 24 25

Investment property consists of industrial land owned by SajGas, a subsidiary, in the Sajaa area of the Emirate of
Sharjah, United Arab Emirates. The Group considers a portion of land to be surplus to their operational requirements
and will be used for earning rentals or held for capital appreciation.

Investment property is stated at fair value which has been determined based on a valuation performed by an
independent firm of qualified property consultants, with reference to comparable market transactions. This valuation
has resulted in a decrease in the fair value by USD 1 million (31 December 2015: decrease of USD 1 million) which
was charged to the consolidated income statement.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 31 December 2016

14  INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

The following table summarises the statement of financial position of the joint ventures as at 31 December 2016:

EBGDCO Gas Cities
USD mm USD mm

Current assets 23 -
Non-current assets 86 -
Current liahilities (38) (8)
Non-current liabilities (58) -
Equity 13 8)
Group’s share of net asseis 5 4)

The following table summarises the income statement of the joint ventures for the year ended 31 December 2016:

Revenue 16 -
Loss before income tax 3) (1)
Loss for the year 3 )

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year 3 1)

Group’s share of loss for the year (1) )

The Joint ventures had no other contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 except

as disclosed in note 29.

The following table summarises the statement of financial position of the joint ventures as at 31 December 2015:

EBGDCO Gas Cities

USD mm USD mm
Current assets 11 -
Non-current assets 96 -
Current liabilities (36) t))
Non-current liabilities (64) -
Equity 7 (8)
Group’s share of net assets 2 €))

CNGCL
USD mm

(3%)

(37

(13

(3)
3

W

@)
Q)

CNGCL
USD mm

1
(34)

(33)

(11

Total
USD mm

23
87 -
(84)

(58)

32)

(12)

16

™)
g

{
¢

=

[}
-

Total
USD mm

11 L
97
(78)

(64)

(34)

(13)
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

14  INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The following table summarises the income statement of the joint ventures for the year ended 31 December 2015:

EBGDCO Gas Cities CNGCL Total
USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm
Revenue i6 - - 16
Loss before income tax (9) - (3) (12)
Loss for the year (14) - 3) (17}
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (14) - 3) a7
Group’s share of loss for the year (6) - 1) 7
Reconciliation of
summarised financial information
Opening net investment as of 1 January 2015 8 3) 561 566
Loss for the year (6) - e8] 4]
Net investment as of 31 December 2015 2 3) 560 559
Investment during the year 4 - - 4
Loss for the year )] (1) (1) 3
" Net investment as of 31 December 2016 5 ) 559 560

Out of the total investment of USD 560 million, investment of USD 559 million relates to interest in CNGCL which
represents the fair value of the rights for the purchase and sale of gas and related products acquired by the Company
through its 35% interest in CNGCL. The fair valve of the rights acquired in 2005 was determined by reference to
valuation exercises undertaken by professionally qualified independent third parties based on the expected future cash
flows arising from the underlying contractual relationships.

Commercial activity in CNGCL has not yet commenced. In July 2010, National Iranian Qil Company (NIOC)
introduced gas into its completed transmission network and Dana Gas’ UGTC pipeline and SajGas processing
facilities in Sharjah for commissioning purposes. However, subsequently as it pressured up, NIOC discovered
significant leaks in its offshore gas fransmission system which needs rectification. Notwithstanding this, Crescent
Petroleum is continuing with international arbitration to seek a ruling on its binding 25 years gas supply contract with
NIOC.

The Company was notified by Crescent Petroleum on 10 August 2014 that the Arbitral Tribunal has issued a Final
Award on the merits, determining that the 25 year contract between it and NIOC is valid and binding upon the parties,
and that NIOC has been in breach of its contractual obligation to deliver gas under the Contract since December 2005,

On 18 July 2016, the English High Court finally dismissed the National Iranian Oil Company ("NIOC"s) remaining
grounds of appeal against the 2014 arbitration award. The 2014 arbitration award found in favour of Dana Gas®
partner Crescent Petroleum Company International Limited and Crescent Gas Corporation Limited on all issues.
NIOC appealed the 2014 arbitration award to the English High Court. Most of the grounds of appeal were previously
heard and dismissed by the Court in March 2016. The finalisation of the appeal in July 2016 confirms that the 2014
award is final and binding and that NIOC has been in breach of its gas supply obligations since 2005.

Crescent Petroleum has informed Dana Gas that the final hearing of the remedies phase against NEOC for non-
performance of the contract (including claims for damages and indemnities for third party c¢laims) took place in
November 2016. Due to a long post-hearing submissions timetable, the final damages Award is expected in the second
half of 2017.
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Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

15 INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATIONS
(a) Kurdistan Region of Iraq Project

On 15 May 2009, Dana Gas and Crescent signed a Share Sale Agreement with OMV and MOL wherein an equity
interest of 5% each was sold by Dana Gas and Crescent to OMV and MOL respectively. On 27 November 2015,
Dana Gas and Crescent further transferred an equity interest of 5% each in Pearl Petroleum to RWE Middle East
Holdings BV (“RWE”). Consequently, the shareholding interest in Pear] Petroleum is now as follows: 35% to Dana
Gas, 35% to Crescent, 10% to OMV, 10% to MOL and 10% to RWE. In accordance with the terms of the Joint
Venture Agreement dated May 15, 2009, the shareholders of Pearl Petroleum appointed Crescent and Dana Gas as
Subcontract Operator to conduct the business of the Company on a no-profit, no-loss basis.

Pearl Petroleum and its shareholders since 18 May 2009 are engaged in an ongoing dialogue with the Ministry of
Natural Resources (“MNR”) of the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG™) as to the interpretation of the agreement
with the KRG (“the Authorisation™).

Failing satisfactory progress with that dialogue, Dana Gas, along with Crescent Petroleum and Pearl Petroleum (the
Consortium that holds petroleum rights in the Kurdistan Region of iraq), fegether “the Claimants™, commenced
internaticnal arbitration proceedings on 21 October 2013 at the London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA), in
accordance with the dispute resolution mechanism of the agreement signed with the KRG on 04 April 2007 and
governed by English Law. The objective of the arbitration is to obtain confirmation of the long-term contractual rights
for the development and marketing in respect of the Khor Mor and Chemchemal fields including the outstanding
receivables owed by the MNR of KRG.

Following a hearing in London between 20-24 April 2015, on 3 July 2013, the Tribunal issued a Partial Final Award
(dated 30 June 2015) confirming Pearl’s long-term exclusive rights for the development and marketing in respect of
the Khor Mor and Chemchemal fields, and its entitlement to be paid by KRG for condensate and LPG invoices at the
contractually specified international prices.

On 21 September 20185, a one-day hearing was held during which the Consortium made an application to the Tribunal
for monetary award of USD 1.963 billion against KRG, being the outstanding unpaid invoices (as of 30 June 2015)
for the produced condensate and LPG calculated as per the pricing methodology determined by the Tribunal in the
Partial Final Award. The Tribunal considered the parties’ claims and their submissions made on 21 September 2015.

On 27 November 2015, the Tribunal handed down its Second Partial Final Award (dated 27 November 2015 and
updated by Memorandum of Correction dated 20 January 2016) (“Second PFA™) in which it ordered the KRG to pay
the Consortium within 28 days (i.e. by 26 December 2015) the sum of USD 1.963 billion for outstanding unpaid
invoices for the produced condensate and LPG up to 30 June 20135, as per the pricing methodology already determined
by the Tribunal in the First PFA.

Following a 2-week hearing from 5-16 September 2016, on 13 February 2017, the Tribunal handed down its Third
Partial Final Award dated 30 January 2017 (“Third PFA™). The Third PFA relates to the hearing that took place
between 5-16 September 2016, which addressed the balance of the Claimants claims against the KRG (save for the
quantification of the Claimants® delayed development claim), along with the counterclaims alleged by the KRG
against the Claimants.

Importantly, the Tribunal held in the Third PFA the following:

a. Delayed Development Claim: The Tribunal found in the Claimants® faver that the KRG wrongfully prevented
the Claimants from carrying out appraisals and such other activities as are necessary to enable the Consortium
to put forward a proposal for field development in respect of Khor Mor and Chemchemal and thereby delayed
the Claimants opportunity to develop those areas. The Tribunal further declared that the KRG is not entitled to
reject a proposal from the Censortium for a field development plan otherwise than on reasonable grounds in
accordance with good petroleum industry practice.

b. Update on Liquid Reccivables: The Tribunal ordered the KRG to pay to the Claimants USD 121,095,282 in
respect of condensate and LPG lifted by or on behalf of the KRG between 30 June 2015 and 31 March 2016.
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Pana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

15 INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATIONS (continued)
(a) Kurdistan Region of Iraq Project (continued)

c. Entitlement to Interest: The Tribunal determined that the Claimants are entitled to interest on all overdue liquids
receivables for each day that such sums are overdue at the rate of LIBOR + 2% compounded monthly.

d. Dismissal of KRG Counter Claims: The Tribunal dismissed in totality all of the KRG’s counterclaims against
the Claimants and found that the project was delivered within a reasonable time.

The quantification of the Claimants’ damages for the delayed development claim will be determined by the Tribunal
at a further hearing scheduled for 12-20 September 2017.

In the meantime, KRG remains in default of the Tribunal’s peremptory order of 17 October 2014 to pay the Claimants
USD 100 million on an interim basis (“Peremptory Order”). Accordingly, the Claimants applied to the English High
Court for enforcement of this interim order. The Court heard the Claimarnts” application for the enforcement of the
Peremptery Order during a hearing on 28 and 29 October 2015.

On 20 November 2015, the High Court handed down its decision, in which it enforced the Peremptory Order and
ordered the KRG to pay the Peremptory Order within 14 days. Following receipt of the judgment, the KRG applied
to challenge the Court’s order, by way of sceking (1) a discharge of the Peremptory Order; (2) an appeal; and (3)
alternatively, an extension of time to pay the Peremptory Order. At the same time as the KRG made its application it
also applied to the Tribunal to discharge the Peremptory Order. At the hearing before the Court on 17 December
2013, the Court decided to (1) adjourn the discharge application to allow the Tribunal to decide whether or not the
Peremptory Order should be discharged; (2) refused permission for the KRG to appeal; and (3) extended the time for
the KRG to pay the Peremptory Order to 26 February 2016. However, as a condition of this extension, the Court
ordered the KRG to pay in the meantime 3 installments of USD 8 million each by 31 December 2015, 15 January
2016 and 19 February 2016 to the Consortium. All three instalments were paid.

The KRG also applied to the Tribunal to discharge the Peremptory Order, which was the subject of a short hearing
before the Tribunal on 8 January 2016. The parties then went back before the High Court on 5 February 2016, in
which the Court dismissed the KRG’s discharge application and upheld the Peremptory Order. The KRG then applied
to the English Court of Appeal for permission to appeal the High Court’s judgment. The hearing for permission took
place on 12 May 2016, with the Court of Appeal refusing the KR(’s application and upholding the Peremptory Order.

Separately, in March 2016 the Claimants and the KRG independently reached an agreement whereby the Peremptory
Order will be paid down by the KRG in monthly instaiments. As at 31 December 2016, the KRG has paid the
Claimants an amount of USD 53.84 million. As the Peremptory Order is included in the USD 1.96 billion awarded
pursuant to the Second PFA, the amount of the Second PFA now outstanding has been reduced by USD 53.84 million.

The KRG has not yet paid the USD 1.963 billion, and on 22 December 2015, launched a challenge to the Second PFA
in the English High Court on the limited procedural grounds allowed for in arbitration. The hearing for the KRGs
challenge was set for 28-30 November 2016. However, on 20 October 2016 the KRG filed a notice of discontinuance
in the High Court, formally withdrawing the challenge. The Claimants are now able to actively consider its options
to pursue enforcement of the Second PFA.
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At 31 December 2016

15  INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATIONS (continned)
(a) Kurdistan Region of Iraq Project (continued)

The following amouats represent the Group’s 35% share (2015: 40% up to 27 Novemnber 2015) of the assets and
liabilities of the joint operation: )

2016 2015

USD mm USD mm
Assets:
Non-current assets 254 272
Current assets 741 743
Total Assets 995 1,015
Liabilities:
Current liabilities 68 31
Net Assets 927 984
Income 78 142
Operating cost {18) (22)
Depreciation (17) (12)
Gross profit 43 108

(b) UGTC/Emarat Joint Venture

The Group has a 50% interest in the UGTC/ Emarat jointly controlled operations which own one of the largest gas
pipelines in the UAE (48 inch diameter) with an installed capacity of 1,000 MMscfd, to transport gas in the Emirates
of Sharjah from Sajaa to Hamriyah. The following amounts represent the Group’s 50% share of the assets and
liabilities of the Joint Operations:

2016 2015

USD mm USD mm
Assets:
Non-current assets 18 19
Current assets 29 26
Total Assets 47 45
Liabilities:
Current liabilities - -
Net Assets 47 45
Income 4 4
Operating cost (§)] 1)
Depreciation @) 1)
Gross profit 2 2
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16 INVENTORIES

Spares and consumables

Less: provision for impairment of inventory

Less: reclassification to property, plant and equipment (note 11)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables (net)

Prepaid expenses

Due from joint ventures

Other receivables

Less: provision for impairment of other receivables

2016
USD mm

57
®

49

49

2016
USD mm

a) Trade receivables are interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 days credit period.

2015
USD mm

73

®

65

(12)

53

2015
USD mm

950

29
42

(6)

1,017

b) The Group’s share of trade receivables in Pear] Petroleum is in respect of condensate and LPG deliveries
amounting to USD 713 million (31 December 2015: USD 727 miilion) — refer note 15.

¢) The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Neither Past due but not impaired
past due
nor <30 30-60 61-90 91-120 =120
Total impaired days days days days days
USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm
2016 982 46 36 3 26 74 797
2015 950 75 12 24 15 21 803
18  AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET
2016 2013
USD mm USD mm
At 1 January - 51
Disposal - (54)
Change in fair value for the year (note 23) - 3

During 2015, the Group sold its entire shareholding of 1,136,116 shares in MOL, at an average price of USD 47.7

per share (USD 54 million - net).
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19  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Balance at 1 January 8 9
Investment redeemed during the year - (0
Change in fair value 1 -
Balance at 31 December 9 8

This represents an investment in the Abraaj Infrastructure fund. The valuation is based on the latest indicative fair
value of the fund as of 31 December 2016.

The Group has not made any investments in shares and stock during the year ended 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2015.

20 CASH AND BANK BALANCE

2016 2015

USD mm USD mm
Cash at bank and on hand
- Local Banks within UAE 37 66
- Foreign Banks outside UAE 7 32
Short term deposits
- Local Banks within UAE 248 343
- Foreign Banks outside UAE - -
Cash and cash equivalent 292 441
Deposit (Murabaha facility) 10 29
Cash and Bank Balance 302 470

Cash at bank earns profit at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying
periods of between one week and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
carn profit at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and bank balance including short-term
deposits is USD 302 million (2015: USD 470 million). The effective profit rate earned on short term deposits ranged
0.3% to 9.0% (2015: 0.3% to 9.0%) per annum. As at 31 December 2016, 94 % (31 December 2015: 87%) of cash
and bank balance were held with UAE banks and the balance held outside UAE. Out of the total cash and bank balance
of USD 302 million, 5% of the amount was held in Egyptian pounds (31 December 2015: 11%).

Deposit (Murabaha facility) is EGP pledged with Mashreq Bank PSC, Egypt branch against fully secured facility of
USD 25 million (note 25 €). As per the arrangement, Dana Gas Egypt will maintain EGP deposit equal in value to
115% of the outstanding principal amount of loan in USD. The tenor of the facility is one year from the date of
drawdown which was completed on 9 April 2015. During the year, the facility term has been extended for a further
period of one year with a revised facility amount of USD 21.5 million and requires Dana Gas Egypt to maintain EGP
deposit equal in value to 120% of the outstanding principal amount of USD. The pledged EGP deposit as of 31
December 2016 stood at USD 10 million in equivaleni EGP (31 December 2015: USD 29 miliion).
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21 SHARE CAPITAL

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Authorised:
9,000,000,000 common shares of AED 1 each
(UUSD 0.2728 each) — Note 21b
Issued and fully paid up:
6,968.616,114 (2015: 6,968,616,114) common shares of AED 1 each
(USD 0.2728 each) 1,901 1,901

a. The conversion period for Exchangeable sukuk issued on 8 May 2013 commenced on 31 October 2013 and will
expire 25 trading days prior to the scheduled redemption date of 31 October 2017, During this period sukuk
holders have the right to convert all or part of the Exchangeable sukuk into ordinary shares of the Company.

b. The Annual General Assembly of Shareholders on 28 April 2016, approved the amendments to the Memorandum
and Article of Association of the Company in accordance with the New Companies Commercial Law No.2 for
the year 2015. This included approval of Authorised share capital of the Company to be AED 9 billion i.e. 9
billion shares of AED 1 each.

22 STATUTORY AND LEGAL RESERVE

Statutory Legal
reserve reserve
USD mm USD mm
At 1 January 2015 93 93
Transfer from net profit for the year 15 15
At 31 December 2015 108 108
Transfer from net profit for the year - -
At 31 December 2016 108 108

a) Statatory Reserve

In accordance with the U.A.E. Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, the Group has established a statutory reserve by
appropriation of 10% of the Group’s net profit for each year. The allocation will cease by the decision of the Ordinary
General Assembly as recommended by the Board of Directors or when the reserve equals 50% of the Company’s paid
up capital. This reserve is not available for distribution, except as stipulated by the law.

b) Legal Reserve

As per the Articie of Association of the Company, 10% of the Group’s net profit for each year will be allocated to
Legal reserve. Such allocation will cease when the total reserve equals 50% of the Company’s paid up capital.
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23  OTHER RESERVES

Share Fair value

based reserve reserve Total

USD mm USD mm USD mm

At 1 January 2015 1 (15) (14)
Disposal of available-for-sale financial asset - 12 12
Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial asset (note 18) - 3 3
Transfer from Retained earnings 1 - 1
Share based reserve (note 24) 2 - 2

Shares issued to employees @) - )
At 31 December 2015 2 - 2
Share based reserve {(note 24) 1 - 1
At 31 December 2016 3 - 3

24 SHARE BASED PAYMENT
The Company operates a restricted shares plan details of which are as follows:

Restricted Shares

Awards under this plan are generally subject to vesting over time, contingent upon continued employment and to
restriction on sale, transfer or assignment until the end of a specified period, generally over one to three years from
date of grant. All awards may be cancelled if employment is terminated before the end of the relevant restriction
period, The Group determines fair value of restricted shares unit based on the numbers of unit granted and the grant
date fair value.

The charge recognised in the consolidated income statement under share based payment plans is shown in the
following table:
2016 2015
USD mm USD mm

—

Expense arising from equity settled share-based payment transactions 2
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25 BORROWINGS

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Non-current
Ordinary Sukuk (a) - 400
Convertible Sukuk (a) - 329
Bank Borrowings — Zora Gas Field Project Finance (b) 39 64
Equipment loan (c) 12 12
Egypt Building loan (d) 1 5
62 810
Current
Ordinary Sukuk (a) 350 -
Convertible Sukuk (a) 340 -
Bank Borrowings — Zora Gas Field Project Finance (b) 27 27
Bank Borrowings — Murabaha facility () 12 24
Equipment loan (c) 1 -
Egypt Building loan (d) 1 -
731 51

Total Borrowings 793 861

a) EXCHANGEABLE SUKUK

In October 2007, the Group arranged to issue convertible Sukuk-al-Mudarabah (the “Sukuk™) for a total value of
USD 1 billion in the form of Trust Certificates through a special purpose company (the “Issuer”). The Sukuk, which
were drawn up to conform to the principles of Islamic Sharia, were approved by the Company’s shareholders at an
Extraordinary General Meeling held in July 2007. Pursuant to the conditions of the Sukuk, the proceeds were used
for the acquisition and development of assets (the “Mudarabah Assets”) owned by Dana LNG Ventures Limited. The
Sukuk matured on 31 October 2012 and had a profit rate of 7.5% payable quarterly from profits of the Mudarabah
Assets, In 2008, Dana Gas purchased some of the Sukuk from the market with a nominal value of USD 80 million.

The Company announced on 10 December 2012 that a standstill and lockup agreement has been reached with an “Ad-
Hoc committee™ of Sukuk certificate holders for a refinancing transaction (the “Transaction™) in relation to the Sukuk.
The standstill and lockup agreement also includes a detailed set of terms, conditions and implementation schedule.

The Company launched the consent solicitation on 26 March 2013 to seek Sukuk holders consent in a meeting of
Sukuk Certificate holders (“Sukuk holders EGM™) to be held on 23 April 2013. Also, the Company issued an
invitation to its Shareholders to attend the Extra Ordinary General Assembly (“Shareholders EGM”) to consider and
approve the Sukuk deal.

On 23 April 2013, both Sukuk holders EGM and Shareholders EGM approved the Sukuk refinancing deal. On 8 May
2013 successful completion was achieved and the Company made the cash pay-down of USD 69.9 million and paid
the accrued profit from 31 October 2012 to 7 May 2013 amounting to USD 38.4 million. Following this, the Company
also perfected the required securities and issued a compliance certificate dated 10 July 2013.

The salient features of the agreement were a reduction in the Company’s outstanding Sukuk amount from USD 1
billion to USD 8350 million via USD 70 million of cash pay-down and cancellation of another USD 80 million of the
existing Sukuk already owned by the Company. The remaining USD 850 million will be split into two tranches being
a USD 425 million Ordinary sukuk and USD 425 million Exchangeable Sukuk (together the “New Sukuks™), each
with 5-year maturity to ensure long term financing. The Ordinary Sukuk and Exchangeable Sukuk have a profit rate
of 9% and 7% per annum, respectively,
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25 BORROWINGS (continued)
a) EXCHANGEABLE SUKUK (continued)

As per the agreement, the conversion rate for the Exchangeable sukuk was set at a 50% premium to the 75 calendar
day volume-weighted average price, measured over a period commencing on 1 Decermber 2012 (with a floor of
AED 0.75 and cap of AED 1.00). The initial effective exchange price for the exchangeable sukuk was determined on
13 February 2013 and has been fixed at AED (.75 per share (floor price). The Company has the option to pay down
the outstanding principal amount of the New Sukuks prior to the new maturity date of 31 October 2017, subject to
the applicable call premium on the Ordinary Sukuk and the sofi call provisions on the Exchangeable Sukuk. The
Exchangeable sukuk at the option of the certificate holders can be exchanged into ordinary shares of the Company on
or after 31 October 2013 until 25 trading days prior to the Scheduled Redemption Date.

The Ordinary and Exchangeable sukuk are secured against the shares of Dana LNG Ventures Limited (BVI), Sajaa
Gas Company Limited (Sharjah) and United Gas Transmission Company Limited (Sharjah). In addition to the above,
the security package available to holders of the New Sukuks was enhanced by USD 300 million of value comprising
security over certain receivables of the Company’s Egyptian assets, Company’s interest in Danagaz W.L.L. and Sajaa
Gas industrial land.

As noted above, the Sukuk is due to mature in October 2017, The Boeard of Directors has considered the future
operating and capital cash flow requirements of the Group, and is fully confident of mecting the Group’s license
obligation despite the challenges and uncertainties in the markets in which the Group operates. Meanwhile, with
regard to the Sukuk and its maturity in the fourth quarter of 2017, the Board considers that, after taking inte account
various uncertainties that are general and specific to Company, a number of retirement options are available to it
which are currently under evaluation.

During the year, the Company has bought back Ordinary Sukuk amounting to USD 50.3 million (par value). During
20135, the Company had bought back Ordinary and Exchangeable Sukuk amounting to USD 24.9 million (par value)
and USD 2.2 million (par value), respectively. All the bought back Sukuk were cancelled in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the respective Sukuk.

As of 31 December 2016 par value of outstanding Ordinary and Exchangeable sukuk amounted to USD 350 million
(2015: USD 400 million) and USD 350 million (2015: USD 350 million), respectively.

The Exchangeable sukuk recognised in the statement of financial position is calculated as follows:

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Liability component at 1 January 329 323
Finance expense for convertible sukuk 35 32
Sukuk cancelled through buyback - 2
Profit paid {20) (20)
344 333
Current portion of profit classified under trade payables and accruals ) E)]
Liability component at 31 December 340 329

. The conversion option embedded in the convertible instrument is valued at the issuance of the Exchangeable sukuk
and disclosed separately under Equity — USD 58 million (2015: USD 58 million).
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25 BORROWINGS (continued)
b) BANK BORROWINGS — ZORA GAS FIELD PROJECT FINANCE

On 25 June 2014, Dana Gas Explorations FZE (100% subsidiary of Dana Gas PJSC) entered into a Common Terms
Agreement with Emnirates NBD Bank, Commercial Bank International, Commercial Bank of Dubai and Barwa Bank
{(Lenders) for USD 100 million Term Facility for the Zora Field Development Project. Emirates NBD Bank will also
act as the Global Facility Agent, Term Facility Agent, Security Agent and Account Bank while Barwa Bank will act
as the Murabaha Investment Agent for the Shariah tranche of this loan.

The repayment for the Term Facility is over a period of 15 quarterly instalments and has already commenced from
Q4 2015, subject to a cash sweep mechanism and carries variable rate of LIBOR + Margin during the repayment
period. As of the balance sheet date, the loan amount outstanding is at USD 67 million.

Project Security covers, commercial mortgage over mortgage-able Zora gas field project assets (onshore & offshore),
assignment of rights under Gas Sales Purchase Agreements, assignment of all Dana Gas Exploration FZE bank
accounts, assignment of Zora Project Insurance proceeds, Project performance Guarantees from Contractors &
Irrevocable Letter of Credits from Sharjah Petroleum Council. Dana Gas PJSC has pledged the shares of Dana Gas
Explorations FZE in favor of security agent. Dana Gas PJSC is also a Guarantor for the entire tenure of the term
facility.

20616 2015

USD mm USD mm
Loan facility 91 100
Less: Unamortised portion of loan arrangement fees - 2)
Less: Repayment during the year (26) (N
Add: Amortisation of loan arrangement fees 1 -
Net Loan facility 66 91
Loan facility is payable as follows:
Within one year 27 27
After one year 39 64
Loan facility 91

66

¢) EQUIPMENT LOAN

Dana Gas Egypt (“DGE™) has entered into a “Sale and Lease back™ finance lease arrangement with Corporate Leasing
Company Egypt SAE on 29 January 2015, for certain inventory equipment (casings, wellheads, piping etc.) that
belong to DGE that have not been used till date. The total facility consisting of three coniracts amounts to USD 12.6
million and have been fully drawn down up to 30 June 2015. After the full draw down an additional contract of USD
1.1 million (note 25d) was added to the facility thereby increasing the facility to USD 13.7 million. The payments are
over a period of 29 quarters commencing from Quarter 3 2015 including grace period of 2 quarters for interest and
principal. As of the balance sheet date, the amount outstanding toward principal is at USD 13 miilion.

d) EGYPT BUILDING LOAN

Pearl Properties Egypt (“PPE™) has entered into a “Sale and Lease back” finance lease arrangement for Egypt Building
with Corporate Leasing Company Egypt SAE on 9 June 2015. The total facility originally consisted of three contracts
amounting to USD 13.8 million which was reduced by USD 1.1 million to USD 12.7 million. The facility was fully
drawn down up to 30 April 2016. The payments are over a period of 29 quarters including grace period of 2 quarters
for lease payments. As of the balance sheet date, the amount outstanding toward principal is at USD 12 million.
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25  BORROWINGS (continued)
¢} MURABAHA FACILITY

Dana Gas Egypt Ltd (Barbados) entered into Commodity Murabaha agreement with facility limit of USD 25 million
with Mashreq bank PSC (UAE) on 30 March 2015. This was a fully secured facility wherein Dana Gas Egypt Ltd
was required to maintain EGP deposit (pledged) equal in value to 115% of the outstanding principal amount of loan
in USD held with Mashreq bank PSC, Egypt branch acting as Security Agent. The profit rate on the facility is LIBOR
+ Margin & the EGP deposit attracts a deposit rate that closely reflects the profit rate on the loan. The drawdown of
the said facility was completed on 9 April 2015, Subsequent to period end, the facility term has been extended for a
period of one year with a revised facility amount of USD 21.5 million with a slightly different profit rate (LIBOR +
Margin) and a different deposit rate on EGP deposit. This fully secured facility requires Dana Gas Egypt Ltd to
maintain EGP deposit (pledged) equzal in value to 120% of the outstanding principal amount of USD until December
2016. As of the balance sheet date, the amount outstanding toward principal is USD 12.5 million, The remainder of
this facility is repayable in first four months of 2017 or in accordance with any other terms and conditions that may
be agreed with the lender.

26 PROVISIONS

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Asset decommissioning obligation 9 14
Employee’s end of service benefits 2 2
11 16

The movement in asset decommissioning obligation during the year relates to unwinding of discount, change in
discount and exchange rate and payment related to decommissioning liability.

27  TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Trade payables 43 67
Accrued expenses and other payables 77 73
Profit accrued on Sukuk 9 16
Advance against local sales in KRI 9 -
138 150
28 PROVISION FOR SURPLUS OVER ENTITLEMENT (NET)
2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Surplus over Entitlements (note 28a)} 114 153
Less: Interest receivable on overdue invoices (note 28b) 67) (133)
Less: Other receivables ©) (6)
41 14
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28  PROVISION FOR SURPLUS OVER ENTITLEMENT (NET) (continued)
a) 'Surplus over Entitlements

As per the terms of the Authorisation, Pearl takes title to all petroleum produced and accordingly recognises 100%
revenue from the sale of condensate and LPG. From such revenue received in cash, Pearl is entitled to retain the
petroleum costs and remuneration fee as per the Authorisation (*Entitlements™) and any residual amount is to be paid
to the KRG (“Surplus™). The right under the Authorisation to receive such revenue in full was upheld by the
Arbitration Tribunal in its second Partial Final Award dated 27 November 2015 (note 15).

On an accruals basis, the cumulative revenue recognised by Pearl to date exceeds its net Entitlements under the
Authorisation, if all invoices and outstanding receivables were to be paid by the KRG. Such estimated Surplus
amounts to USD 326 million (DG Share 35%: USD 114 million) as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015:
USD 437.72 million — DG Share 35%: USD 153 miilion). Reduction in Surplus has been recognised in the Income
Statement. This notional Surplus is only due on the assumption that all the owistanding liquid petroleum invoices as
at 31 December 2016 had been paid in full by the KRG as of that date, which they have not. Accordingly, Pearl’s net
Entitlements will need to be recalculated from time to time until Pearl has recovered its full entitlement under the
Authorisation.

Such Surplus crystallises and becomes payable to KRG only when Pearl has actually recovered its Entitlements as
per the terms of the Authorisation which is very much dependent upon the timing of actual receipt of funds from the
KRG in respect of accrued revenue in addition to any future Petroleum Costs incurred by Pearl. It should be noted
that as at 31 December 2016, Pear! has not recovered its Petroleum Costs in full.

Furthermore, Pearl has a right under the terms of the Authorisation to offset this Surplus, when payable, against any
other outstanding payments due from the KRG. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2016, the aforementioned Surplus
has been reduced by other outstanding amounts due from KRG, the net result being that a net amount of USD 117
million (DG Share 35%: USD 41 million) would be repayable to the KRG, even if the entire amount of USD 2.04
billion (DG Share 35%: USD 713 million} in outstanding receivables to Pearl by 31 December 2016 were to be settled
in full. Furthermore due to the terms of the Authorisation, further delay in payment by the KRG will further increase
Pearl’s Entitlements and reduce the net amount re-payable to the KRG.

b)  Interest and other receivable from KRG (net)

Pearl Petroleum (“Pearl™) is contractually entitled to charge interest cost on overdue reccivables due from KRG.
Previously, without giving up its contractual entitlement to actual interest costs, Pearl invoiced interest on overdue
KRG invoices at the rate of LIBOR plus 2%. In the absence of seitlement of overdue invoices, Pearl decided to invoice
by applying 9% interest {quarterly compounded) on 50% of the total overdue receivables, while the remaining 50%
overdue receivables were subject to an interest rate of LIBOR plus 2% which is the minimum specified under the
Authorisation.

As part of the Third Award received on 13 February 2017 the Tribunal ruled that Pearl is entitled to interest on
overdue recetvable at Libor plus 2% compounded monthly.

Based on the above, Dana Gas share (35%) of the total interest on overdue receivables (for condensate and LPG sales
and transportation costs paid on behalf of KRG) from KRG as at 31 December 2016 stands at USD 67 million (31
December 2015: USD 133 million).
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29 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
a) Dana Gas Egypt

In March 2006, Dana Gas Egypt entered into an agreement with CTIP Oil and Gas Limited (“CTIP™) to acquire a
25% percent working interest in the West El Manzala and West E! Qantara Concessions. Following the closing of
this acquisition, the Company held a 100% participating interest in each of these Concessions. As agreed under the
terms of the said acquisition agreement Dana Gas Egypt has paid USD 13 miilion as a result of the first Government
approved plan of Development in the West E] Manzala Concession. In addition, Dana Gas Egypt has agreed to pay
additional payments that could total up to a further USD 12.5 miilion as and when discovery volumes equal or in
‘excess of 1Tef of Proved Reserves. Dana Gas Egypt has also granted a three percent net profits interest to CTIP on
firture profit from the Concessions.

In April 2013, Dana Gas Egypt was awarded a 100% working interest in the North El Arish Offshore (Block 6)
concession area. The area is located offshore Nile Delta, in the eastern part of the Mediterranean Sea. As per the
concession agreement, Dana Gas Egypt has committed to spend USD 25.5 million on the block during the first phase
of exploration which is 4 years.

In October 2014, Dana Gas Egypt was awarded a 100% working interest North El Salhiya (Block 1) concession area.
The area is located in Nile delta next to DGE existing development leases. As per the concession agreement, Dana
Gas Egypt has committed to spend USD 20 million on the block during the first phase of exploration which is 3 years.

In October 2014, Dana Gas Egypt was also awarded El Matariya (Block 3) onshore concession area in the Nile Delta,
Dana Gas Egypt with BP Exploration (Delta) Limited “BP” as partner and operator will participate in the concession
on 2 50:50 basis. As per the terms of the agreement with BP, BP will fund all of the cost (including Dana Gas’s share)
of the first exploration well up to an agreed maximum limit. BP also has the option to acquire 50% in the deep
potential of some of Dana Gas® adjacent Development leases. Dana Gas Egypt and BP have committed to spend USD
60 million on the block during the first phase of exploration which is 3 years.

Capital expenditure contracied for at 31 December 2016 but not yet accrued amounted to Nil (31 December 2015:
USD 6 million).

30 DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATIONS
Disposal of Interest in Pearl Petroleum Company Limited

On 27 November 2015, Dana Gas and Crescent signed & Share Sale Agreement with RWEST Middle East Holdings
BV (RWEST Middle East) wherein an equity interest of 5% each was sold by Dana Gas and Crescent each to RWEST
Middle East. The new shareholding interest in PPCL is as follows: 35% to Dana Gas, 35% to Crescent, 10% to QMV,
10% to MOL and 10% to RWEST Middle East.

The net assets transferred by Dana Gas as a result of this disposal amounted to USD 131 million.

31 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions with related parties which are conducted at arm’s length included in the consolidated income statement
are as follows:

2016 2013
Fees for Fees for
management managemernt
Revenues services Revenues Services
USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm
Joint arrangement 1 2 1 2
Major shareholder - - - 1
1 3

1 2
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31 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of members of key management during the year was as follows:

2016 2015
USD mm USD mm
Short-term benefits 5 6
Restricted Shares 1 1
6 7

32  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise borrowings, decommissioning obligations (provisions), trade
payables, other payables and due to related parties. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance
for the Group®s operations. The Group has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short-term
deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, price risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
which are summarised below.

{a)Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to material foreign currency risks in relation to its cash balance in Egyptian pounds held in
Egypt with local banks.

At 31 December 20186, if the Egyptian pounds had strengthened/weakened by 10% against the USD with all other
variables held constant, total comprehensive loss for the year would have been USD 2 million higher/ lower (2015:
USD 5 million), as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Egyptian pounds denominated cash and
bank balance.

(b)Profit rate risk
The Group has minimal exposure to Profit rate risk on bank deposits. The Group’s bonds carry fixed profit rate and
hence are not exposed to profit rate risk.

(c) Commodity price risk

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk (crude oil price), however this has been partially mitigated due to
fixed pricing agreement in Egypt & U.A.E. for sale of natural gas which constitute approximately 49% (2015: 39%}
of the Groups gross revenue. At 31 December 2016, if the average price of crude oil for the year had
increased/decreased by 10% with all cther variable held constant the Group’s total comprehensive loss for the year
would have been USD 19 million higher/lower (2015: USD 19 million).

{d) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from trade receivables and bank balances.

(i) Trade receivables

The trade receivables arise from its operations in UAE, Egypt and Kurdistan Region of Iraq. The requirement for
impairment is analysed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major customers. As majority of the Group’s
trade receivable are from Government related entities no Impairment was necessitated at this point. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount as illusirated in note 17.

(ii) Bank balances

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by Group’s Treasury in accordance with
the Group policy. Investment of surplus funds is made only with counterparties approved by the Group’s Board of
Directors. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of bank balances as at 31 December 2016 is the
carrying amount as illustrated in note 20.
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
borrowings, trade payables and other payables. The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial labilities at 31 December based on contractual undiscounted payments:

Year ended 31 December 2016
On Less than 3to 12 1t}
demand 3 months months years =5 years Total
USDmm USDmm USDmm USDmm USDmm USDmm
Borrowings (including profit) - 28 774 68 1 871
Trade payables and accruals - 138 - - - 138
Provisions 3 - - 6 8 17
3 166 774 74 9 1,026
Year ended 31 December 2015
On Less than 3012 ftwo5
demand 3 months months years >3 years Total

USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm

Borrowings (including profit) - 23 95 898 3 1,019
Trade payables and accruals - 150 - - - 150
Provisions 3 - - 4 17 24

3 173 95 902 20 1,193

Capital risk management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order
to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business conditions. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2015. Capital comprises share capital, retained earnings, other reserves and equity component of
convertible bonds, and is measured at USD 2,565 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015: USD 2,654 million).

33 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial
instruments that are carried in the financial statements:

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
2016 2016 2015 2015
USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mim
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 1,026 1,026 1,017 1,017
Cash and short term deposits 302 302 470 470
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 793 793 861 861
Trade payables and accruals 138 138 150 150

The fair value of borrowings is the amortised cost determined as the present value of discounted future cash fiows
using the effective interest rate.
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33  FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION (continued)

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:
¢ Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
» Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2)
¢ Inpuis for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is unobservable inputs) (Level
3.

The following table presents the Group® assets that are measured at fair value on 31 December 2016:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 9 - 9
Investment property - - 24 24
Total - 9 24 33

The following table presents the Group® assets that are measured at fair value on 31 December 2015:

Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
USD mm USD mm USD mm USD mm
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 8 - 8
Investment property - - 25 25
Total - 8 25 33

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the years 2016 and 2015.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Assets at fair
value through Available-
Loans & the profit for-sale
receivables and loss financial asset
USD mm USD mm USD mm
31 December 2016
Assets as per Statement of Financial Position
Trade and other receivables excluding 1,023 - -
pre-payments
Financial assets at fair vafue through
profit or loss - 9 -
Cash and bank balance 302 - -
Total 1,325 9 -
Liabilities at
Jfair value Derivatives  Other financial
through the profit  used for liabilities at
and loss hedging amortised cost
USD mm USD mm USD mm
31 December 2016
Liabilities as per Statement of
Financial Position
Borrowings - - 793
Provisions - - 11
Trade payable and accruals excluding
statutory liabilities - - 138
Total - - 942
Assets at fair
value through Available-
Loans & the profit Jor-sale
receivables and loss [financial asset
USD mm USD mm USD mm
31 December 2015
Assets as per Statement of Financial Position
Trade and other receivables excluding 1,01 5 - -
pre-payments
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss - 8 -
Cash and bank balance 470 - -

Total 1,485 8 -

Total
USD mm

1,023

302

1,334

Total

Total
USD mm

793

11

138

942

Total
USD mm

1,015

o0

470

1,493




Dana Gas PJSC and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 31 December 2016

34  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

31 December 2015

Liabilities as per Statement of
Financial Position

Borrowings

Provisions

Trade payable and accruals excluding
statutory liabilities

Total

35  SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

As part of the Corporate Sccial Responsibility Initiatives, the Company

during the vear.,

Liabilities at
Jfair value
through the profit

and loss
USD mm

Derivatives
used for
hedging
USD mm

Other financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
USD mm

861

16

150

1,027

Total
USD mm

861

16

150

1,027

spent USD 68,250 (2015: USD 570,000)
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